

COMPREHENSIVE INVITED REVIEW

The Adverse Effects of Environmental Noise Exposure on Oxidative Stress and Cardiovascular Risk

Thomas Münzel,¹ Mette Sørensen,² Frank Schmidt,¹ Erwin Schmidt,³ Sebastian Steven,¹ Swenja Kröller-Schön,¹ and Andreas Daiber¹

Abstract

Epidemiological studies have provided evidence that traffic noise exposure is linked to cardiovascular diseases such as arterial hypertension, myocardial infarction, and stroke. Noise is a nonspecific stressor that activates the autonomous nervous system and endocrine signaling. According to the noise reaction model introduced by Babisch and colleagues, chronic low levels of noise can cause so-called nonauditory effects, such as disturbances of activity, sleep, and communication, which can trigger a number of emotional responses, including annoyance and subsequent stress. Chronic stress in turn is associated with cardiovascular risk factors, comprising increased blood pressure and dyslipidemia, increased blood viscosity and blood glucose, and activation of blood clotting factors, in animal models and humans. Persistent chronic noise exposure increases the risk of cardiometabolic diseases, including arterial hypertension, coronary artery disease, diabetes mellitus type 2, and stroke. Recently, we demonstrated that aircraft noise exposure during nighttime can induce endothelial dysfunction in healthy subjects and is even more pronounced in coronary artery disease patients. Importantly, impaired endothelial function was ameliorated by acute oral treatment with the antioxidant vitamin C, suggesting that excessive production of reactive oxygen species contributes to this phenomenon. More recently, we introduced a novel animal model of aircraft noise exposure characterizing the underlying molecular mechanisms leading to noisedependent adverse oxidative stress-related effects on the vasculature. With the present review, we want to provide an overview of epidemiological, translational clinical, and preclinical noise research addressing the nonauditory, adverse effects of noise exposure with focus on oxidative stress. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 28, 873-908.

Keywords: environmental risk factors, traffic noise exposure, aircraft noise exposure, stress hormones, endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress

Table of Contents

I.	Introduction	874			
	A. Noise and global burden of disease	874			
	B. Historical view on noise research: the concept of nonauditory effects of noise	875			
	C. Impact of environmental noise on healthcare systems	878			
II.	Epidemiology: Traffic Noise and Cardiometabolic Disease	879			
	A. Cardiovascular disease	879			
	B. Metabolic disease	880			
	C. Cancer	880			
	D. Effects of noise exposure on sleep: short sleep, endothelial dysfunction, and oxidative stress	880			

Reviewing Editors: Ann Baldwin, Mara Benfato, Eric C. Bielefeld, Pascal Goldschmidt-Clermont, John Keaney, and Vickram Ramkumar

¹The Center for Cardiology, Cardiology 1, Johannes Gutenberg University Medical Center, Mainz, Germany.

²Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark.

³Institute for Molecular Genetics, Johannes Gutenberg University, Mainz, Germany.

[©] Thomas Münzel, *et al.*, 2018; Published by Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. This Open Access article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

	E. Traffic noise exposure, annoyance, noise sensitivity, and mental disease	881
	F. Effects of noise and air pollution coexposure	882
	G. Health effects of noise exposure in children	883
	H. Traffic noise mitigation strategies	883
III.	Effects of Noise on Vascular Function and Oxidative Stress	884
	A. Prognostic meaning of endothelial dysfunction and vascular oxidative stress	884
	B. Noise and translational studies in humans	885
	C. Noise and translational studies in animals	887
	1. Direct pathway activation $via \ge 100 \text{ dB}(A)$ noise exposure on the inner ear (hearing loss)	888
	2. Indirect, nonauditory vascular effects of $\leq 100 \text{ dB}(A)$ noise exposure	889
	3. Indirect, nonauditory pathway activation with noise exposure $\leq 85 \text{ dB}(A)$	889
	4. Effects of aircraft noise on vascular gene regulation as established by next-generation sequencing	890
	5. Summary and conclusions of aircraft noise exposure in mice	893
IV.	Adverse Effects of Simultaneous Noise and Air Pollution Exposure	893
	A. Adverse effects of noise and air pollution exposure share similar pathophysiological pathways	893
	B. Gaps in current knowledge concerning noise and air pollution	893
V.	Other Environmental Risk Factors, Oxidative Stress, and Cardiovascular Disease	893
	A. Air pollution (PM/carbon black)	895
	B. Other environmental stressors	896
VI.	Summary and Future Perspectives	896

I. Introduction

URING THE LAST decades, there was a shift of the global **D**burden of disease from communicable (*e.g.*, of perinatal, nutritional nature) to noncommunicable causes (e.g., atherosclerosis) (143). Whereas most research was directed toward classical risk factors such as diabetes, smoking, or arterial hypertension, more recent evidence suggests that environmental factors contribute to the development of chronic noncommunicable disease (143). Environmental stressors such as noise and air pollution are becoming more and more important in our industrialized world and especially traffic noise from road, aircraft, and railway transportation represents a potential novel cardiovascular risk factor (162, 166), and numerous studies demonstrate that noise plays a role for the development of cardiovascular as well as metabolic disease (167). Since there are almost no models for translational research in humans and animals, the detailed mechanisms responsible for noise-triggered cardiovascular disease (CVD) are still elusive. Current concepts are based on chronic stress reactions such as activation of the autonomic and endocrine system caused by annoyance or sleep deprivation leading to subsequent pathophysiologic systemic alterations, all of which contribute to the progression of CVD (14, 16).

Babisch established the modern noise reaction model, postulating an "indirect pathway," in which disturbance of sleep, communication, and activity by low-level noise exposure causes changes of emotional and cognitive parameters and annoyance, followed by chronic stress reactions and adverse health effects (13, 14) (summarized in Fig. 1). Importantly, environmental stressors generate their own cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, and increased blood viscosity and coagulation (13), contributing to CVD such as coronary artery disease, heart failure, and stroke. A case report on Takotsubo syndrome in a patient attributed this cardiomyopathy that is linked to excessive stress hormone release to annoyance in response to exposure to nighttime aircraft noise exposure (164). The degree of noise-induced annoyance determines the effect of the noise level on arterial hypertension (21) and ischemic coronary artery disease (14). As shown by community-based studies, high levels of environmental noise lead to mental health symptoms (*e.g.*, depression and anxiety) and the degree of noise annoyance may be directly associated with future development of depression and anxiety disorders (31), all of which have negative effects on cardiovascular function (220).

The molecular mechanisms of noise-triggered vascular damage and induction of CVD are still elusive. Chronic stress reactions and increases in circulating cortisol levels (see section III.C.5) (13, 14, 16, 18) are thought to induce vascular oxidative stress with subsequent (endothelial) dysfunction (207, 208) and prothrombotic and inflammatory pathways (43). Of note, noise-induced cardiovascular damage is a multifactorial process and the different pathomechanisms may be active at differing time points of noise exposure (167).

A. Noise and global burden of disease

Over the last two decades, there was a substantial shift of the major risk factors that contribute to the global disease burden. In the year 1990, the most important risk factors were communicable childhood diseases, whereas in the year 2010, they were mostly replaced by those comprising noncommunicable adulthood diseases, also reflecting the aging population in the Western societies (143, 168). Besides the demographic changes, the clinical improvement of the treatment of childhood diseases, and prenatal mortality, also advances in the quality of drinking water, nutrition, sanitary conditions, and indoor air pollution are the main reasons for this shift of leading risk factors for global deaths and diseases within the last two decades [for review, see Daiber et al. (57)]. Of course this shift is not equally visible in all regions of the world since the socioeconomic status of different territories may still promote poverty and communicable



FIG. 1. Noise reaction scheme explaining the adverse cardiovascular effects of noise exposure. Adapted from Münzel *et al.* (162) with permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2014, Oxford University Press.

childhood diseases as the most important risk factors of death and severe illness (*e.g.*, in sub-Saharan Africa).

According to a previous meta-analysis of multiple clinical studies on the global all-cause disease burden and mortality, cardiovascular risk factors (arterial hypertension and smoking) and diseases (ischemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease) represent the top four causes of death and reduced life quality due to illness (disability-adjusted life years, or DALYs) in humans worldwide (Fig. 2) (143, 168). Among those, high blood pressure (BP) is the leading risk factor for all-cause mortality and has the most pronounced impact on life years spent with significant illness and disability of the global population. Based on these observations, CVDs have outcompeted underweight, water pollution, low hygienic standards, air pollution by household heating and fire places, infectious diseases, as well as early childhood diseases, as the number one cause of global deaths within the last 20 years (143, 168).

The nonauditory effects of noise comprising annoyance, sleep disturbance, and psychological stress are believed to cause global disability. It is estimated by the World Health Organization (WHO) that in Western Europe a total number of 1,685,000 DALYs are lost for ischemic heart disease, cognitive impairment of children, sleep disturbance, tinnitus, and annoyance every year (2). This means that traffic noise exposure accounts for the loss of more than 1,000,000 healthy life years in the Western European population every year. Sleep disturbance and annoyance induced by exposure to road traffic noise are responsible for the majority of environmental noise-related diseases in Western Europe. It is estimated that 40% of the European population is exposed to noise originating from road traffic at levels exceeding 55 A-weight decibels [dB(A)]; 20% exposed to levels exceeding 65 dB(A) during the daytime; and 30% of the population is exposed to levels exceeding 55 dB(A) at night (2). Sound levels of different noise sources are provided in Figure 3. Asian populations living in urbanized territories may face much higher traffic noise exposures compared with European cities, even reaching L_{den} levels (Day–Evening–Night level, *i.e.*, the average sound pressure level (L_{eq}) measured over a 24-h period, Table 1) of 60–64 dB(A) or more (138).

A critical point when conducting studies of noise and health is adjustment for confounders. Traffic noise is known to negatively impact property prices (250), which highlights the need for proper adjustment for socioeconomic status (SES) and lifestyle in studies of traffic noise and health. Cohort studies often have the most detailed set of confounders in the analyses, including both SES variables and lifestyle habits (216, 222). Recently, a number of large population-based studies (>750,000 participants) on noise and health have been published, which, due to their register-based nature, lack information on lifestyle risk factors (100, 108, 214). These studies normally include some adjustment for SES: while some studies have detailed information on a personal level of, for example, income and education (108), others rely mainly on a more crude area-level information of SES (100, 214). It is, however, important to note that adjusting for lifestyle in studies of noise is not straightforward, as a number of studies have linked traffic noise with, for example, obesity and physical activity (49, 68, 84, 189, 200), strongly suggesting that these are intermediates and not confounders on the pathway between traffic noise and disease.

B. Historical view on noise research: the concept of nonauditory effects of noise

Being a visionary, Robert Koch postulated in 1910 that "One day mankind will have to fight the burden of noise as



Global burden of disease and all-cause mortality

FIG. 2. The most important diseases/injuries and risk factors for the global all-cause mortality and life years spent with significant illness and/or disability. DALYs, disability-adjusted life years. Figure was drawn *de novo* according to data presented by Lim *et al.* (143) and Murray *et al.* (168).

relentless as the pest and cholera" (1). This postulate was confirmed by the WHO in 1995 stating that "The main negative effects of such noise on people are disturbances of communication, rest and sleep, and general annoyance. Over long periods of time these effects have a detrimental influence on wellbeing and perceived quality of life." (2).

The concept that the so-called nonauditory effects contribute substantially to health consequences was already mentioned in the monography named "Effects of Noise in Man," by Karl D. Kryter (Fig. 4). In his book, he summarized the nonauditory systemic responses, including information about the effects of noise on work performance, sleep, feeling pain, vision, and blood circulation. The monography was started in 1950 and finally published in 1970 (130). Importantly, Kryter states that some of the more complex and perhaps more important (from a health viewpoint) effects of noise have to do with these somewhat second-order reactions. He proposed that the nonauditory effects are the result of the stimulation of three neural systems that are not exclusively linked to audition: (i) the autonomic nervous system that controls systemic somatic responses and arousal reactions of the organism-the glands, the viscera, and circulatory system. (ii) The reticular nervous system, leading to arousal responses of the central nervous system as well as organs of perception related to pain and pleasure. (iii) The cortical and subcortical brain centers responsible for intellectual performance.

In the chapter "General Physiological Responses to Noise," Kryter cites articles dealing with observations that acute noise exposure has cardiovascular effects. Jansen showed in 1964 that noise exposure in subjects performing exercise is causing vasoconstriction (116). Furthermore, Jansen and Klensch also reported considerable variations in the hemodynamic responses of subjects exposed to noise or music. By measuring blood circulatory responses to a noise of 90 phon, the authors demonstrated that responses are not uniform (118). While the majority of the noise- or musicexposed subjects showed a decreased cardiac output and minute flow during the noise or music, some behaved otherwise. The authors also concluded that the similarity of responses to noise or music may indicate that the intensity of sound and not its aversive (noise) or its pleasurable (music) aspects controlled the somatic responses. Thus, it may be possible that the music was stressful mainly because of its level (118).

That noise is causing stress was also demonstrated by Levi (141). He showed that work in industrial and office environments leads to increased excretion of catecholamines as a marker of increased stress. Evidence that noise may cause cardiovascular problems was provided by Jansen (117). He reported the occurrence of physiological problems in 1005 German industrial workers such as peripheral circulation problems, heart problems, and equilibrium disturbances, which were more pronounced in very noisy industries compared with less noisy industries (Fig. 5). Thus, based on these early observations, there was no doubt that chronic noise exposure may cause CVD.

Experimental studies have shown that noise may lead to release of stress hormones [for review, see Noise in Europe 2014 (14)]. This was observed in studies on aircraft noise (148, 149) and road traffic noise exposure (113, 115). Interestingly, music has also been shown to increase catecholamine and cortisol levels (30). In addition, intermittent noise caused stronger effects on norepinephrine and corticosteroid levels than steady noise (275, 276). Similar effects were observed for low-frequency noise (114). Thus, with substantial discoveries on stress response pathways in the early 90s, research on the adverse effects of noise on the nonauditory system envisaged a breakthrough (231), and the adverse effects of noise exposure on health were more and more perceived as a "neuroendocrine complication" (34, 127, 150).

A search through the noise literature retrieved 145 reviews on noise and human health published since the year 1980, including 43 reviews from gray literature (*e.g.*, materials and



FIG. 3. Noise thresholds and guidelines. Adapted from Münzel *et al.* (166) with permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2017, Oxford University Press.

research produced by organizations outside of the traditional commercial and academic publishing systems and distribution channels such as research summaries published on university home pages, private and charitable foundations, or by authorities such as the European Commission, WHO, or German Government). The list of these reviews can be found in ENNAH-European Network on Noise and Health (3). A quality assessment of the peer-reviewed journal articles by the European Network on Noise and Health (ENNAH) researchers showed that not more than 10 articles were of high quality, while 9 and 83 articles were classified as medium and low quality, respectively. Most of the review articles were of narrative type with lower scientific impact than systematic reviews and meta-analyses. For risk assessment, high-quality meta-analyses that contain details on dose/response are preferred [e.g., see Babisch (17), van Kempen and Babisch (255), van Kempen et al. (256), and Vienneau et al. (261)].

From the early 60s, human laboratory studies on the nonauditory effects of noise exposure were routinely conducted. However, only short-term noise exposure was studied in

- TABLE 1. DEFINITIONS FOR NOISE-SPECIFIC RESEARCH
- L_{Aeq16} : Indicates noise exposure over a 16-h daytime period usually from 7 to 23.00. The same time period is sometimes represented by L_{day} , which indicates noise exposure over a 12-h daytime period.
- L_{night}: Noise exposure between 11 pm and 7 am.
- LAeq8h: Noise exposure over an 8-h nighttime period.
- L_{DN} : The average equivalent sound level over a 24-h period with a 10 dB penalty for noise recorded between 11 pm and 7 am. Like L_{DEN} , L_{DN} calculator accepts hourly L_{eq} measurements and calculates the L_{DN} accordingly.
- L_{DEN} : The 24-h L_{eq} calculated for an annual period, but with a 5 dB penalty for evening and a 10 dB penalty for night. The penalties are introduced to indicate people's extra sensitivity to noise during the evening and the night. With respect to long-term health effects, these metrics are calculated as average annual exposure indicators.
- L_{max} : Maximum noise level in a given time period. L_{max} is often better at predicting acute effects of single noise events than average noise levels. With respect to longterm health effects, however, the integrated sound level over a long period of time seems more appropriate for a description of the noise.

The energy-equivalent average A-weighted sound pressure level (L_{Aeq}) as expressed in decibels (dB) is the most commonly used indicator of the noise exposure that people perceive outside and inside their homes. The A-weighting accounts for the different sensitivities of the human ear at different sound frequencies. L_{eq} , average sound pressure level. Adapted from Münzel *et al.* (162) with permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2014, Oxford University Press.

these setups, which cannot reflect the chronic effects of environmental noise exposure [numerous examples are provided in the WHO and JRC Report (2)]. From the year 1990, many human studies were conducted for work safety reasons. Occupational studies provided evidence for health disorders in workers chronically exposed to noise for several years, although noise exposure levels among these workers were much higher than in the ambient environment [several examples are provided in the WHO and JRC Report (2)].

Animal models were routinely used since the 60s with a few examples of studies on noise exposure effects on cardiovascular function [numerous examples are provided in the WHO and JRC Report (2)]. BP increases in response to noise were studied in chronically exposed monkeys (185) or rats (7). More examples on noise effects on collagen in the rat heart, platelet adhesiveness, insulin secretion, or animal health in general can be found in the WHO and JRC Report (2). Animal studies on noise effects on cardiovascular function (besides BP) are rare, especially those using reasonable sound pressure levels (SPLs) below 100 dB(A). It may be argued that comparison of the effects in human subjects and animals is questionable, particularly since two response routes are operative: (i) the direct effect due to nervous innervation; (ii) the indirect effect due to the cognition of the sound, which should be completely different in animals and humans.

A large part of previous large-scale animal and human studies on noise-dependent effects on physiological functions and health were conducted for military reasons, for example, to study the effects of low-altitude flights of military jets on these parameters in humans of inhabited regions and also in farm animals. The latter studies were, in most cases, rather



FIG. 4. Title page of the Book from Karl Kryter summarizing the effects of noise on man, discussing man's nonauditory system responses including information about the effects of noise on work performance, sleep, feelings of pain, vision, and blood circulation. Book cover art by Kryter (130). Copyright © 1970 Academic Press, Inc. Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

focused on the productivity of the farm animals (*e.g.*, effect of low-altitude flights of military jets on milk production of dairy cows or on egg production of layers) than on the health status of these animals. Another part of large-scale animal studies on noise-dependent effects on behavior were conducted in wild animals such as deer, boar, and birds to learn more about the impact of traffic noise on deer crossing and flyways. Most of the latter studies were commissioned for effects of noise on birds by the aviation regulating authority. Only very few of these previous studies assessed redox biomarkers and characterized the role of oxidative stress for noise-dependent effects on health, although recent reports highlight that oxidative stress and redox regulation largely affect gene regulation, stress adaptation processes, and other essential biological pathways (65, 157).

C. Impact of environmental noise on healthcare systems

Although environmental noise is not yet fully accepted as a cardiovascular risk factor, public health authorities and or-



FIG. 5. Difference in percent of occurrence of physiological problems in 1005 German industrial workers. Figure drawn *de novo* from data reported in Kryter (131).

ganizations are alarmed by the striking emerging evidence for the adverse cardiovascular effects of environmental noise exposure. The ENNAH project funded by the European Union's (EU) Seventh Framework Program highlighted in the final report the alarming epidemiological evidence for an increased incidence of CVD due to environmental noise exposure (3). The ENNAH Network comprised 33 European research centers from 16 countries to define future research directions and policy needs for the impact of noise on health in Europe. The research focus of ENNAH was to study environmental noise sources, in particular transportation noise. The tasks and merits of the ENNAH Network also comprised the identification of gaps in the research on noise effects on health as well as assessment, prioritization, and integration of the future research directions into the development of strategies for a more efficient noise research funding. The generation of noise maps under the Environmental Noise Directive (2002/49/EC) emerged as a highly efficient tool for noise and health research although comprising major advantages and disadvantages that, however, could be overcome by the implementation of new methods for acoustic measurement and modeling to be used in future noise and health studies.

Another major output of ENNAH research was its contribution to the important publications from the WHO and European Commision's Joint Research Centre (JRC) on the "Burden of Disease from Environmental Noise." As already outlined above, the WHO estimates that traffic-related noise is responsible for the loss of at least 1,000,000 healthy life years every year in Western European countries. Road traffic is the most dominant source of environmental noise with 125 million people being affected, followed by rail traffic noise (nearly 8 Mio.) and aircraft noise (almost 3 Mio.) (2). The "cardiovascular burden" of noise is substantial in Europe, reflected by 900,000 cases of hypertension, 43,000 hospital admissions, and more than 10,000 premature deaths per year related to coronary heart disease and stroke, all related to noise-triggered adverse effects (4). There is substantial evidence for adverse effects of environmental noise on health

that are associated with higher incidence of CVD, increased BP, mental stress responses such as annoyance or sleep disturbance as well as psychological disorders and intellectual performance.

In a recent CE Delft report (60), it was speculated that noise originating from railway and road traffic accounts for up to 50,000 fatal heart attacks and 245,000 cases of ischemic heart disease every year in the EU25 member countries. The probability of heart disease was estimated of the annual number of people experiencing a fatal heart attack in association with traffic noise published in Babisch (15) [for official reports, see ENNAH—European Network on Noise and Health (3)] considering the part of population with noise exposure levels over 60 dB(A) in the respective countries. The total expenses to our societies, inflicted by traffic noise exposure in the EU27 (except Cyprus, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Malta) member countries, also considering charges to health services, may reach 40 billion EUR per year [for official report, see ENNAH—European Network on Noise and Health (3)].

According to a study in the United Kingdom, noise levels of \geq 55 dB(A) during daytime may account for an additional 542 patients with hypertension-related myocardial infarction, 788 patients with stroke, and 1169 patients with dementia, leading to additional expenses of approximately £1.09 billion per year (103). A recent economic assessment in the United States of environmental noise as a cardiovascular risk factor revealed similar economic burden for noise-related disease (243). The results revealed that a 5 dB(A) noise reduction scenario would reduce the prevalence of arterial hypertension by 1.4% and coronary heart disease by 1.8%. The economic benefit calculated would reach an estimated 3.9 billion dollars.

A comparative health risk assessment for Switzerland in 2010 revealed additional costs of 1050 million Swiss Francs (CHF) related to diminished prices for houses and apartments (rental and purchase) in Switzerland for the year 2010 (260). The impact of traffic-dependent noise exposure on CVDs was 560 million CHF based on lost life years (including DALY) and 190 million CHF related to noise-associated morbidity. This amounts to total additional expenses in the health system that are related to noise exposure of 1800 million CHF, which is comparable to the total air pollution-associated additional costs of 1760 million CHF (1250 million CHF related to lost life years and 510 million CHF associated with noise-induced morbidity).

Overall, these studies clearly show that environmental noise exposure affects public health with measurable medical and economic implications. Thus, there is an urgent need to get a pathophysiological insight into the mechanisms being responsible for noise-triggered CVD, which may help to successfully implement mitigation strategies and successful specific pharmacotherapy.

II. Epidemiology: Traffic Noise and Cardiometabolic Disease

According to the majority of studies on chronic exposure to transportation noise (road, railway, and/or aircraft traffic), there is a significant association between higher BP, hypertension or the prescription of antihypertensives, ischemic heart disease (*e.g.*, myocardial infarction), cerebrovascular disease (*e.g.*, stroke), neuronal disorders (*e.g.*, dementia), and cardiometabolic disease (*e.g.*, diabetes mellitus).

A. Cardiovascular disease

Epidemiological research on traffic noise and health has, during the last decades, focused on cardiovascular effects, especially elevated BP and ischemic heart disease. In 2012, a meta-analysis, including 24 cross-sectional studies of road traffic noise and hypertension, found a 3.4% higher probability of prevalent hypertension per 5 dB higher road traffic noise (odds ratio: 1.034; 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.011–1.056) (255). This result has been confirmed in later studies also including adjustment for air pollution (85, 225). Most of these studies relied on estimation of outdoor noise as a proxy for exposure. Interestingly, a Spanish study estimated exposure to nighttime noise, both outdoors and indoors (using information on e.g., orientation of bedroom and indoor insulation), and found that indoor nighttime noise levels were more often associated with elevated systolic BP and hypertension than the outdoor nighttime noise levels (85).

Studies have also indicated an association between exposure to aircraft transportation noise and hypertension (69, 74, 119, 199). The Hypertension and Exposure to Noise near Airports (HYENA) study is one of most comprehensive of these studies, and based on almost 5000 study participants from 6 European countries (119). This study found that a rise in nighttime aircraft transportation noise of 10 dB(A) is associated with an odds ratio of prevalent hypertension of 1.14 (95% CI: 1.01–1.29) (Fig. 6).

The above-described studies are cross-sectional, which prevent conclusions on causality. Studies on noise and incident hypertension are, however, emerging for both road traffic and aircraft noise, and they largely show that traffic noise also increases risk for hypertension, thereby supporting the cross-sectional findings (61, 69, 88).

Several studies have addressed the association between traffic noise exposure and ischemic heart disease; many of high quality. These studies have been included in two recent meta-analyses (17, 261). In 2014, Babisch investigated the relationship between the exposure to road traffic noise and coronary heart disease and found a pooled estimate of 1.08 (95% CI: 1.04–1.13) per 10 dB(A) higher exposure (17). A



FIG. 6. Exposure–response relationships of the associations between transportation noise and cardiovascular health outcomes. Air, aircraft noise; dB(A), A-weight decibels; CHD, coronary heart disease; Hyp, hypertension; Road, road traffic noise. Adapted from Münzel *et al.* (166) with permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2017, Oxford University Press.

similar result was obtained by Vienneau *et al.* in 2015 who included studies of both road traffic and aircraft noise (261). The pooled estimates in this meta-analysis were 1.06 (95% CI: 1.03-1.09) per 10 dB(A) increase in noise exposure (Fig. 6). Importantly, in four of the studies, the association between transportation noise exposure and ischemic heart disease was not attenuated on adjustment for air pollution as a confounder. The authors of both meta-analyses concluded that exposure to transportation noise is a significant cardiovascular risk factor.

Recent studies have found traffic noise to increase the risk for another major CVD, namely stroke (98, 100, 224). Three large studies have been conducted: two on road traffic noise (98, 224) and one on aircraft noise (100). The first study from 2011 was based on a large Danish cohort and found that exposure to road traffic noise at home increased risk for stroke by 14% per 10 dB(A) rise in noise (95% CI: 1.03-1.25). A later study using the same cohort found the effect of traffic noise on stroke to be confined to ischemic strokes (227). These results were in 2015 confirmed by a study covering all of London, which showed a relative risk of 1.09 for stroke (95% CI: 1.04–1.14) in the older population, when comparing people exposed to more than $60 \, dB(A)$ with those exposed to <55 dB(A) (98). Finally, a study of airport noise around Heathrow in London showed similar results: a relative risk of 1.24 (95% CI: 1.08–1.43) when comparing highly exposed people [>63 dB(A)] with people exposed to 51 dB(A) or less (100).

B. Metabolic disease

Recent research has shown that transportation noise exposure may lead to obesity and increase risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus (48–50, 68, 177, 189, 222). The suggested mechanisms include an effect of noise-induced stress and disturbance of sleep on appetite regulation, alterations in the glucose regulation, decreased levels of insulin, and reduced insulin sensitivity (37, 39, 229, 230, 233, 244, 247). However, induction of oxidative stress is regarded a critical factor in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus, and in light of the emerging evidence on noise and oxidative stress (161, 208), it seems likely that oxidative stress also plays a role in the pathway between noise and diabetes.

Recent studies from the Nordic countries have examined the association of traffic noise, from roads, railways, and aircrafts, with obesity among cohorts of adults (49, 50, 68, 177). Three of these studies were cross sectional and based on cohorts ranging from 5000 to 57,000 participants. While two of the studies revealed that exposure to road, railway, or aircraft noise was statistically significantly associated with mainly an increased waist circumference (50, 177), the third study found no overall association (177). However, two prospective studies have also been conducted, and both studies found an association of noise exposure with a statistically significant gain in waist circumference (49, 68), supporting the concept that traffic noise exposure leads to cortisol release, a well-known trigger of central obesity. Finally, a Danish study of a cohort of 40,000 children indicated that exposure to noise from road traffic may be positively associated with odds for childhood obesity (48).

In 2013, a large Danish cohort study addressed the relationship between road traffic noise and risk for diabetes, based on a prospective cohort of 57,000 persons of whom almost 4000 developed diabetes during follow-up (222). The study found that a 10 dB rise in long-term exposure to residential noise from road traffic was associated with an 11% significantly increased risk for diabetes, even after adjusting for several confounders (e.g., air pollution). These results were recently confirmed in a Swiss study based on a cohort study of 2631 persons (75). This study found that noise from road and aircraft traffic is associated with incident diabetes, with relative risks of 1.35 (95% CI: 1.02-1.78) for road traffic noise and 1.86 (95% CI: 0.96-3.59) for aircraft noise per interquartile range increase in noise, after adjusting for air pollution and other confounders. Interestingly, the study found more pronounced effects of road traffic noise among people who reported lower sleep quality or who sleep with windows open (75).

Importantly, obesity, metabolic syndromes, or diabetes are linked to endothelial dysfunction and increased oxidative stress within the vessels, providing evidence that the prodiabetic effects of noise may lead to similar vascular phenomena [for review, see Gori and Münzel (95) and Münzel *et al.* (163)].

C. Cancer

Only a few studies have investigated whether traffic noise exposure is associated with a higher incidence of cancer. However, recent findings suggesting that exposure to noise potentially leads to oxidative stress (208) make investigations of the effect of noise on risk of cancer very relevant. Currently, three studies have addressed the relationship between noise and cancer in a Danish cohort of 30,000 women and 27,000 men (201, 202, 226). Exposure to noise from road and railway traffic displayed a significant association with risk for estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer (226). Supporting this result was the finding that both road traffic noise and railway noise-two noise exposures that were not correlatedincreased the risk for estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer independently of each other. However, the study included only 203 women with estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer. These results have later been partly supported by a large German study that found an association between aircraft noise and higher risk of estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer, although no associations were found for road and railway noise (105). In an investigation of the association between traffic noise and colorectal cancer incidence in the Danish cohort, an association with borderline significance was observed between road traffic noise and colorectal cancer, which was mainly restricted to distal colon cancer (202). Finally, investigations in the same cohort revealed no association between noise exposure and prostate cancer (201).

D. Effects of noise exposure on sleep: Short sleep, endothelial dysfunction, and oxidative stress

Lack of sleep caused by sleep restriction or sleep fragmentation has been demonstrated to exert detrimental effects on different systems, including alterations of metabolic, endocrine, and immune signaling cascades. Acute and chronic sleep restriction and/or fragmentation cause inadequate insulin secretion, decreased insulin sensitivity, increased sympathetic tone, and arterial and venous endothelial dysfunction [for review, see Cappuccio *et al.* (38)]. Epidemiological studies also provided evidence that short sleep, <6 h/night, is associated with cardiometabolic diseases such as obesity, diabetes mellitus, arterial hypertension, and increased all-cause mortality (38), highlighting the important role of sleep disruptions and insufficient length for cardiovascular health. Thus, sleep deprivation and fragmentation are regarded the most important nonauditory effects of environmental noise exposure. Changes in the sleep architecture induced by noise cause modification of sleep stages, induce frequent arousals, and increase the duration of frequent awakenings. Traffic noise during sleep was also related to autonomic arousals and increased heart rate (96).

Two hours of sleep deprivation for 8 days cause endothelial dysfunction in healthy subjects, and the degree of deterioration of endothelial function is comparable to that observed in workers working 24-h shifts (9) and in humans exposed to chronic sleep restriction (245). Thus, a likely explanation for the development of endothelial dysfunction caused by sleep-phase noise exposure may be sleep deprivation and fragmentation, conditions linked with increased cardiovascular events and mortality (46, 78).

In a mouse model, Carreras et al. demonstrated that endothelial dysfunction and arterial hypertension develop on exposure to 20 weeks of sleep deprivation (40). The authors observed a marked disruption of vascular elastic fibers and an increase in foam cells and macrophages within the vascular wall. In addition, sleep fragmentation reduced messenger RNA (mRNA) expression of the senescence markers TERT and cyclin A, the tumor suppressor p16^{INK4}, and interleukin-6 (IL-6) levels (40). The same group also showed that sleep fragmentation causes activation of NADPH oxidase in the brain (169) and increases oxidative stress induced by the NADPH oxidase subunit NOX2 within adipose tissue (203), all of which were associated with insulin resistance. Sleep disturbance and deprivation even gain more importance when considering the fact that essential vascular repair takes place during the sleep time, which is in line with impaired stroke recovery of rats subjected to sleep disturbances (283), that awakening affects the circadian clock with impact on vascular function and regeneration (5), and that the circadian clock per se is subject to redox regulation (269).

E. Traffic noise exposure, annoyance, noise sensitivity, and mental disease

Annovance is a widely observed response to environmental noise in the population (2), originating from negative effects on daily activities, feelings, thoughts, sleep, or rest, and can also comprise negative emotions, such as irritability, distress, exhaustion, and other stress responses (180). Severe annoyance can be linked to decreased well-being and health, and due to the impact on a large population, there is a significant contribution of annoyance to the burden of disease from exposure to environmental noise. While noise and annoyance are clearly correlated, the noise responsiveness and sensitivity of each individual are determined by individual factors, including genetic and physiological states as well as life style. Of note, repeated aircraft noise exposures were associated with a measurable augmentation of annoyance reactions in the longer run and annoyance ratings according to the HYENA study exceeded the estimations by the EU standard curves (19).

Individuals with substantial annoyance responses had higher incidence of mental and physical symptoms and higher prescription of psychotropic drugs and more frequent general practice and outpatient services (264). As reviewed by van Kamp and Davies (254), subjects with mental disorders have a higher noise sensitivity that is comparable to people with chronical somatic illness or suffering from tinnitus as well as shift workers, fetuses, and neonates, which may translate to more frequent adverse effects of noise on health. Preliminary studies revealed qualitative differences in the effects of specific traffic noise sources on annoyance responses (211, 235).

Aircraft noise was generally considered more annoying, displaying a more pronounced impact on sleep, than noise exposure from road and railway traffic (67, 156). A recent study of 15,010 subjects (selected randomly from the local registry in the city of Mainz and the district of Mainz-Bingen, a large population-based, prospective, observational, single-center cohort study in the Rhine-Main-Region in Western Mid-Germany) revealed that aircraft noise exposure was a major environmental trigger of public annoyance in 60% of the included individuals (Fig. 7A, B) (268).

Most included subjects were obviously annoyed by noise exposure; only 20.7% were not annoyed. More than half (52.8%) of the people reported at least moderate annoyance. The study results also revealed an association of annoyance by noise exposure with depression and anxiety, even when adjusting for the confounding factors, sex, age, and SES (Fig. 8) (31). Compared to no annoyance, the odds ratio for depression showed a continuous increase starting from no or slight annoyance, over moderate and strong to extreme annoyance, the latter displaying a 2.12-fold increase in the incidence of depression. Similarly, the probability of anxiety showed a steady increase from no annoyance, over slight, moderate, and strong to extreme annoyance (2.28-fold) (31).

Recently, Seidler *et al.* showed a significant association of exposure to traffic noise with depression (213). The relationship between exposure to road traffic noise and the risk of depression was linear with an odds ratio of 1.17 for a 24-h sound level >70 dB(A). The relationship between exposure to aircraft noise and the risk of depression revealed an odds ratio of 1.23 at quite low sound levels of 50–55 dB(A), interestingly, the risk estimates decreased at higher sound exposure levels, most probably since noise-sensitive people escape the exposure (*e.g.*, by moving to another place). For noise from railway transportation, the odds ratio of 1.42 was found in that part of the study population that was exposed to combined noise from all three sources at sound levels above 50 dB(A).

In contrast to annoyance, noise sensitivity is a stable response to noise and has been demonstrated to be an independent predictor of the annoyance to environmental noise (254). Accordingly, it has been proposed that noise sensitivity might be an indicator of vulnerability to environmental stressors, meaning that highly noise-sensitive people will develop more diseases in response to environmental noise (236). Recent results in 3630 male and female civil servants from the U.K. Whitehall II study demonstrated that noise sensitivity and CVD morbidity or mortality were not associated, except in people with lower employment grades, where the authors established an association with angina pectoris (238). Being highly sensitive to noise was more



FIG. 7. Relationship between environmental noise sources and the degree of annoyance. (A) Degrees of overall annoyance according to different sources of noise. (B) Sources of extreme annoyance. Adapted from Beutel *et al.* (31) with permission of the publisher/authors. Copyright: © 2016, Beutel *et al.* (open access).

common in 50–55-year-old women, and those of high employment grade. Furthermore, noise sensitivity was a constant predictor of depressive symptoms and psychological distress. The authors concluded that noise sensitivity has been identified as a predictor of mental illness (238).

F. Effects of noise and air pollution coexposure

Most studies on air pollution do not pay attention to noise levels, and likewise, the majority of noise exposure studies do not include measures for air pollution. A rather small number of studies addressed both environmental risk factors, air pollution and traffic noise, and adjusted for the respective confounding pollutant in the overall statistical models (51, 59, 82, 98, 216, 223, 227). A majority of these studies suggest that traffic noise and air pollution are independent risk factors of CVD incidence and mortality. A meta-analysis from 2013 found that adjustment for one of these confounders, air or traffic noise pollution, caused no loss of their association with CVD outcome (249). However, also the opposite effect was observed in some studies, meaning that the association of road traffic noise or air pollution with CVD was lost after adjustment for the complementary risk factor, respectively (82, 227).

Obviously, the interpretation of results of studies on road traffic noise and air pollution is complicated by the appreciable colinearity of these two environmental risk factors, especially among different adjustment and exposure models. A major problem is the reliable prediction of noise exposure levels among the different exposure models (*e.g.*, higher predictive quality of a specific model for air pollution will yield a more robust association of air pollution and outcome). Due to its nature, aircraft and railway noise is less associated with air pollution, whereas road traffic noise is usually highly connected to air pollution (especially in urbanized areas and city centers), leading to different confounding relationships between air pollution and different sources of traffic noise. Accordingly, railway and aircraft noise studies provide important prediction of environmental noise-related health



FIG. 8. Association between noise annoyance, depression, and anxiety. CI, confidence interval. Adapted from Beutel *et al.* (31) with permission of the publisher/ authors. Copyright: © 2016, Beutel *et al.* (open access). effects that are less dependent on air pollution components than those obtained for road traffic noise. Although a considerable number of studies suggest that air pollution-induced health effects are independent of noise, the consideration of confounding and combined effects is important, especially with respect to traffic air pollution.

G. Health effects of noise exposure in children

Children are a group that is extremely sensitive to noise exposure (254). This is simply because children are in a rapid growth and cognitive development phase and they have less developed defensive capabilities than adults to cope with environmental noise and can control noise less efficiently (234). As expected, noise exposure is causing an activation of the neurohormonal system in children (73). The Munich Airport study revealed that exposure to aircraft noise increases adrenaline and noradrenaline levels (71, 72). Hormone levels are elevated with increasing noise exposure time. No study has so far established an association of noise with cortisol excretion. There appears to be a minor positive association between aircraft noise and BP in children (184). Children are also as annoyed by traffic noise as adults. As shown in the Road traffic and Aircraft Noise exposure and children's Cognition and Health (RANCH) study, at 50 dB(A) there are 5.1% and at 60 dB(A) there are 12.1% annoved by aircraft noise (257). Likewise, in the same study, a linear association was established for road traffic noise exposure with annovance reactions (257).

There is a growing body of evidence that noise has detrimental effects on children's memory and reading outcomes. This has been shown for aircraft and also for road traffic noise (97). Further evidence for a noise-induced impairment of children's cognitive development was provided by intervention studies. In these studies, changes in noise exposure were clearly associated with changes in the cognitive performance (111). Also, a linear association of chronic aircraft noise exposure with impaired reading comprehension and reading memory was reported by the RANCH study (237). Taken together, the relationship between road traffic noise exposure and BP in Children is of minor nature, but its longterm effects could be more detrimental since children's health state often translates to the adolescent and adulthood health state. Obviously, environmental noise in children affects catecholamine excretion, annoyance, and confers negative effects on cognitive capabilities (e.g., comprehension, long-term memory, and performance in standardized tests) (64).

What is the link between noise-induced cognitive impairment and oxidative stress? There are interesting new experimental data linking increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by the enzyme NADPH oxidase (NOX2 subunit) in the brain with impairments in learning and memory (122). Thus, it is tempting to speculate that the cognitive impairments in children observed in response to noise may be at least, in part, mediated by increased NADPH oxidase-dependent superoxide production in the brain (122). Future studies have to address this topic, whether noise can cause an upregulation of the NADPH oxidase and an increase in superoxide production in the brain. Also, the sequence of events remains elusive, and whether cerebral oxidative stress precedes the adverse effects on the vasculature is not exactly known to this date. However, it is well established that noiseinduced sleep deprivation (among other severe life stress factors) can cause oxidative stress in the brain, providing a link to neuronal disorders and memory impairment (8, 123, 206). Sleep deprivation *per se* can induce cerebral oxidative stress, inflammation, and increased angiotensin II signaling and cortisol release via activation of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (206), all of which will also affect cardiovascular health (41) and providing a link between depression and CVD (173).

H. Traffic noise mitigation strategies

The European Environment Agency has recently shown that the number of Europeans exposed to high levels of noise is on the rise. When comparing data between 2007 and 2012, they observed that there had been a general increase of people exposed to noise from airports; a slight increase of people exposed to noise from roads, and a slight decrease of people exposed to noise from railways. The rise in people exposed to road, rail, and airport noise is expected to increase worldwide during the next decade. The authorities may use different strategies to reduce the levels of road traffic noise.

Examples for effective measures causing road noise reduction are shown in Table 2. For aircraft and railway noise, introduction of night bans is a strategy for reducing exposure to noise during sleep, which is known to be an especially important exposure window in relation to health effects of noise. In addition, reduction of noise (aircraft noise) may also be achieved by implementing continuous descent arrivals

Change in noise, dB(A)	Perceived change	Examples on methods leading to reduction
1	A very small change.	Reduce speed by 10 km/h, smoother traffic, shifting traffic from nighttime to daytime period, remove 25% of traffic
3	An audible, but small change.	Reduce speed by 20 km/h, using noise-reducing asphalt, remove 50% of traffic
5	A substantial and significant change.	Use noise barriers, remove 65% of traffic
10	Large change. Sounds like a halving of the sound.	Use high noise barriers, remove 90% of traffic

TABLE 2. EFFECTIVE MITIGATION STRATEGIES LEADING TO NOISE REDUCTION

dB(A), A-weight decibels.

(CDA), which require aircraft to approach on steeper descents with lower, less variable throttle settings. This CDA approach reduces noise, burns less fuel, and reduces emissions. Furthermore, installing sound-reducing windows is recommended in general, which will amount to ~ 10 dB of reduction in indoor noise. Finally, more awareness with respect to road traffic noise when choosing tires for vehicles would result in a marked reduction in noise, as less noisy tires are available (5–10 dB difference) at similar costs to higher noise tires.

However, increasing population, urbanized areas, and socioeconomic factors require long-term strategies and policy directives. Even when the per-vehicle emissions of air pollutants and noise would be dramatically reduced, the yearly growing demand of human mobility and transportation of goods, a basic requirement for the growing economy worldwide, will compensate for these restrictive efforts. Long-term measures comprise urban planning (e.g., minimum distances between sources and individuals, better sound-wall barriers, relocation of major trafficked roads and airports away from heavily crowded areas, prevention of industrial-residential areas, and better roads). Another primary strategy to reduce environmental risk by noise and air pollution includes better filter systems and noise isolation of buildings to prevent diffusion of outdoor air pollution and noise into indoor environments.

Also, scientific improvements in transportation technologies may help to reduce air pollution and noise in the future, although implementation may be hardly achievable in poor countries where cost is a primary consideration. In the meantime, acknowledgment of these environmental risk factors in clinical guidelines may put pressure on the government for more efficient reduction of air pollution and noise exposure limits. Future studies will have to address to what extent these mitigation measures will be able to protect from oxidative stress-induced vascular damage.

III. Effects of Noise on Vascular Function and Oxidative Stress

Endothelial function has been demonstrated to be a biomarker reflecting increased oxidative stress in vascular tissue with prognostic meaning [for review, see Gori and Münzel (95) and Münzel et al. (163)]. There are only few interventional human studies investigating the adverse vascular effects of noise and our reports on the vascular consequences of aircraft noise in healthy subjects and patients with established coronary artery disease represent two examples (207, 208). Thus, the primary endpoint chosen in these translational vascular function studies was endothelial function as a parameter. To address the mechanisms underlying oxidative stress-induced endothelial dysfunction, we developed a novel animal model of aircraft noise exposure allowing us to identify the enzymes responsible for increased production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species within the vasculature.

A. Prognostic meaning of endothelial dysfunction and vascular oxidative stress

The endothelium-derived relaxing factor, which is now known since more than two decades as nitric oxide ([•]NO), and some of its reaction products (*e.g.*, S-nitrosothiols, iron/ nitrosyl species or inorganic nitrite), confer potent anti-

atherosclerotic effects (95, 163). NO was formed by endothelial cells together with prostacyclin control platelet aggregation and vascular tone. NO also prevents adhesion of neutrophils to the endothelium, adhesion molecule expression, and smooth muscle cell proliferation (165). Therefore, NO deficiency contributes to atherosclerosis.

The half-life of **NO**, and accordingly its biological activity, is mainly influenced by ROS, especially superoxide (163). Superoxide interacts with *NO in an almost diffusion-limited reaction yielding the intermediate peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), a potent biological oxidant (163). The fast bimolecular reaction of •NO with superoxide (rate constant: $5-10 \times 10^9 M^{-1} \cdot s^{-1}$) is approximately three to four times faster compared with the dismutation of superoxide by the superoxide dismutases (SODs) (28). Accordingly, peroxynitrite generation is a major sink of •NO, but this process also activates •NO, depending on the cellular superoxide levels. Higher formation rates of peroxynitrite are cytotoxic and induce oxidative modifications of proteins, lipids, and DNA (27). Peroxynitrite was also reported to adversely affect the activity and/or expression of prostacyclin synthase (282), endothelial NOS (133), and soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC) (26). Hydrogen peroxide, formed by superoxide dismutation by SODs, and hypochlorous acid, produced by activated granulocytes, are also ROS but without free radical character. However, hydrogen peroxide and hypochlorous acid are also potent oxidants that can induce oxidative stress in vessels (28).

During the last 17 years, an appreciable number of clinical trials have shown a close relationship between coronary and peripheral endothelial function and the risk of cardiovascular events. Thus, endothelial dysfunction has been observed in patients with arterial hypertension, subjects with normal BP but with a family history of hypertension, smokers, passive smokers, patients with dyslipidemia, aging patients, and those with diabetes mellitus [for review, see Flammer et al. (81)]. Using the methodology of assessing flow-mediated dilation (FMD) of the brachial artery by upper arm occlusion, we demonstrated that this approach has prognostic meaning in 325 patients with established coronary artery disease (Fig. 9) (182). Patients with established coronary artery disease and subsequent major adverse cardiovascular and cerebral events (MACCE), including cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, and coronary revascularization by percutaneous coronary intervention or bypass surgery, hospitalization for unstable angina or decompensated heart failure, and nonhemorrhagic stroke, had a significantly lower FMD (+4.9%) compared with patients without MACCE (6.3% FMD).

However, a pharmacological proof of this concept is still missing since so far no interventional study was published that showed normalization of FMD (*e.g.*, by •NO donors) improved the prognosis of patients, and even the prognostic value of FMD was questioned by several studies demonstrating that vascular function measurements without invasive interventions do not contribute much to the prognostic value of the European Society of Cardiology risk score (210) and was not independently correlated with cardiovascular events (240, 279). The pros and cons for FMD as a predictor of future cardiovascular events were discussed in detail previously (57).

It is also of prognostic importance to what extent endothelial dysfunction is corrected by the acute administration of



FIG. 9. Kaplan–Meier analysis of event-free survival refers to subgroups of patients categorized as being below and above the median values for mean FMD. Lower FMD was associated with higher cerebro-cardiovascular event incidence. FMD, flow-mediated dilation. Reprinted from Ostad *et al.* (182). Copyright (2014), with permission from IOS Press. The publication is available at IOS Press through http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/CH-131720

vitamin C, as this reflects the degree of oxidative stress within the vasculature (106). In patients with endothelial dysfunction and established coronary artery disease, Heitzer *et al.* established that endothelial dysfunction and higher burden of vascular oxidative stress represent useful predictors of future cardiovascular events (106). With these studies, the authors showed that endothelial dysfunction patients experiencing cardiovascular events, including cardiovascular mortality (*e.g.*, myocardial infarction, ischemic stroke, coronary angioplasty, and coronary or peripheral bypass operation), had greater benefit from vitamin C than patients without any cardiovascular event (Fig. 10A, B) (106).

Excessive ROS formation led to loss of progenitor repair capacity and contributes to the progression of atherosclerosis and adverse remodeling (193, 218), resulting in an imbalance between vascular damage and repair observed during the aging process (142, 146). However, it should be noted that ROS do not only affect the health of patients but also of healthy subjects and that ROS are not only detrimental but, at lower concentrations, confer important redox signaling, involving stress adaptation processes (112, 242) and other essential cellular functions such as cell migration and differentiation (65, 159). This may also explain why so far most interventional studies based on antioxidant therapy failed to improve the prognosis of the treated subjects (92, 209). In addition, the effect of ascorbate infusion and age remained independent predictors of future cardiovascular events, even on adjustment for conventional risk factors that blunted endothelium-dependent vasodilation by acetylcholine, using a Cox proportional regression analysis (106). Thus, the degree of oxidative stress in the peripheral vasculature may go parallel with increased oxidative stress in the coronary arteries, thereby causing, for example, plaque rupture. Indeed, Sorescu *et al.* demonstrated that in atherosclerotic arteries, there was an intense area of superoxide in the plaque shoulder, which is rich in superoxide producing macrophages containing the gp91phox isoform of the NADPH oxidase (228).

The authors concluded that increased intracellular oxidative stress in human coronary atherosclerosis may be involved in the genesis and progression of human coronary atherosclerotic disease (228). Interestingly, the strong superoxide signal in the shoulder of the plaque and the intense staining of macrophages in the same area may indicate that superoxide produced by inflammatory cells may be at least, in part, responsible for plaque rupture and therefore for the clinical events such as an acute coronary syndrome (228). The most significant superoxide source within the vasculature causing endothelial dysfunction is vascular and phagocytic NADPH oxidase, uncoupled [•]NO synthase, xanthine oxidase, and also the mitochondria (163). The direct effects of ROS on endothelial (vascular) function are shown in Figure 11.

Based on this evidence of the prognostic importance of the endothelium and the crucial role of oxidative stress in modulating endothelial function, we decided to choose endothelial dysfunction as our primary endpoint in endothelial function studies in healthy subjects (208) and patients with established coronary artery disease (207), as well as in a novel animal model of aircraft noise exposure (161).

B. Noise and translational studies in humans

In our recent field study, we found a correlation between the dose of nighttime aircraft noise exposure (in the subjects' bedrooms) and endothelial function as measured by FMD of the arteria brachialis (Fig. 12) (208).

The normalization of noise-induced endothelial dysfunction by acute administration of the antioxidant vitamin C pointed to an important role of oxidative stress in noisetriggered adverse vascular effects (Fig. 12). Vascular dysfunction was also associated with impaired sleeping quality and increased catecholamine production. There was also a "priming effect" of subjects who had previously exposed to noise, leading to a more pronounced adverse vascular effect of noise when exposed for the second time, suggesting sensitization of the vasculature to damage in response to repeated noise exposures. These findings provide a mechanistic explanation for a correlation between nighttime noise exposure and cardiovascular risk. More and more epidemiologic studies provide evidence that nighttime noise exposure has higher relevance for cardiovascular health than daytime noise exposure. The HYENA study observed no significant relationship for daytime noise and aircraft noise, but significantly increased BP with higher burden in nighttime noise (119).

In support of these findings, it has been shown that road traffic noise exposure is more detrimental in people who Α

15





B 100

80

sleep with open windows or have a bedroom facing the road (20). A sustained nocturnal decrease in BP (so-called dipping) is required for resetting the cardiovascular system and for long-term cardiovascular health (205). Repeated nighttime autonomic arousals likely interfere with BP dipping and increase the risk for onset of hypertension in that part of the population with exposure to relevant levels of long-term environmental noise (102).

Vitamin-C-effect

median "weak"

A recent study in Switzerland demonstrated a more detrimental effect of railway noise on BP during nighttime



FIG. 11. Physiology and pathophysiology in the intact and damaged vasculature with direct effects of oxidative stress. NO, nitric oxide; ONOO⁻, peroxyni-trite; XO, xanthine oxidase. Modified from Daiber and Münzel (54a). With permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2006, Steinkopff Verlag Darmstadt.



FIG. 12. Effects of simulated aircraft noise (noise 30 and 60 reflecting 30 or 60 playback aircraft noise events) on endothelial function (as measured by FMD) and (*lower right*) stress hormone levels of healthy volunteers. The administration of the antioxidant vitamin C (*upper right*) was associated with improved endothelial function, demonstrating a role of oxidative stress. Adapted from Schmidt *et al.* (208) with permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2013, Oxford University Press.

exposure (62). The Night Noise Guidelines for Europe were published by the WHO in 2009 and contain an important correlation of four noise exposure ranges to negative health outcomes, ranging from "no substantial biological effects" to "increased risk of cardiovascular disease" (WHO night noise guidelines). According to these guidelines, noise levels of $L_{Aeq,outside}$ 55 dB(A) (see Table 1 for definition) are defined as a goal that can be achieved rapidly to prevent negative health effects of noise, in cases where the more favorable value of 40 dB(A) cannot be reached.

In summary, nighttime noise affects autonomic regulation [*e.g.*, by increased heart rate, sympathetic activation and/or parasympathetic withdrawal (33, 102, 145), and increased BP (42)] as well as vascular function (208). Of note, endothelial dysfunction and reduced heart rate variability were associated with the prognosis of patients with peripheral artery disease, arterial hypertension, and acute coronary syndrome or chronic stable coronary artery disease (36, 140, 165).

In a similar study, even more pronounced cardiovascular effects of noise were observed in patients with established coronary artery disease and the study had to be terminated earlier (207). With our field studies, we demonstrated sleep disturbance and increased BP as well as endothelial dysfunction in response to noise exposure (207) (Fig. 13). Of note, nighttime noise impaired endothelial function independently of noise sensitivity and annoyance, probably by subliminal processes (207). Our observations provide a mechanistic basis for induction of endothelial dysfunction in

patients with significant coronary artery disease by aircraft noise exposure, also providing an explanation for the epidemiological study results on more frequent arterial hypertension, chronic coronary artery disease, heart failure, stroke, and also cardiac arrhythmia in noisy, urbanized areas (166, 261).

C. Noise and translational studies in animals

Noise in animal housing facilities is an inevitable environmental variable that can affect hearing, behavior, and physiology in mice (136). Noise levels in animal housing facilities can reach up to 80 dB(A), due to ventilation, and during human activity interference (e.g., changing the animal cages), peak SPL of more than 100 dB(A) can be reached. These facts should be considered when planning noise exposure experiments. According to a review article by Turner et al., the background noise level recorded from a representative animal housing unit (Southern Illinois University School of Medicine) was around 42 dB(A) with peak levels between 60 and 70 dB(A) (252). This review article also provides an excellent overview on noise susceptibility of different animal species and strains, their hearing frequencies, and common pathways of noise-induced adverse effects on health. Of great value are the examples for noise-induced cardiovascular, hormonal, biochemical, immunological, and other alterations (comparison of human and animal data). Most significant pathophysiological changes in response to



FIG. 13. Impact of noise exposure during the sleep phase on different cardiovascular and hemodynamic parameters. Effects of nighttime aircraft noise on flow-dependent dilation (A), on systolic blood pressure (B) and on sleep quality as expressed by the VAS (A) and data are mean \pm SD in 60 patients with established coronary artery disease. Significance levels are **p*=0.001 for (A), **p*=0.03 for (B), and *p*<0.001 for (C), respectively, adjusted for gender, age, night sequence, PSQI, overall noise sensitivity (NoiSeQ), sleep-related noise sensitivity, attitude toward aircraft noise, and the results of the Morning Evening Questionnaire. PSQI, Pittsburgh sleep quality index; SD, standard deviation; VAS, visual analog scale. Adapted from Schmidt *et al.* (207) with permission of the publisher/authors. Copyright: © 2015, Schmidt *et al.* (open access).

noise include increased BP, vascular dysfunction, stress hormones, immunomodulation, slower wound healing, weight loss, and impaired fertility and reproduction.

1. Direct pathway activation $via \ge 100 \text{ dB}(A)$ noise exposure on the inner ear (hearing loss). The contribution of noise and aging to hearing loss is distinct, yet interrelated (277). Noise-induced hearing loss (NIHL) is one of the leading causes of hearing loss worldwide. NIHL is usually characterized by an elevation in hearing threshold, and the area of damage is most pronounced one-half octave above the frequency of noise exposure. A significant body of evidence suggests that NIHL damage results from noise-induced free radical production after noise exposure (47, 80, 181, 219). Oxidative stress-dependent cochlear vascular dysfunction and inflammation were reported as a central player in NIHL (79, 246). Hearing loss could also be mimicked by administration of the redox cycler paraguat to chinchillas, which resulted in appreciable increases in cochlear superoxide formation and NIHL-typical threshold shifts (32).

In another chinchilla model of NIHL, increased cochlear NADPH oxidase and NF- κ B activity was observed on noise exposure (190). Wistar rats exposed to noise with an SPL of 100 or 110 dB(A) (8-12 kHz) for 24 h displayed increased cochlear expression of NOX1 and DUOX2 but decreased expression of NOX3 (262). The latter finding seems to be at variance with a genome-wide association study identifying *Nox3* as a critical gene for susceptibility to NIHL (137). The contribution of mitochondrial ROS to NIHL is supported by aggravation of cochlear complications in mice with heterozygous deficiency in manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD2) (251), which also holds true for age-related hearing loss (125). Lack of other antioxidant enzymes such as Cu,Zn-SOD or glutathione peroxidase-1 also potentiates the complications of NIHL, further supporting a central role of oxidative stress in its pathogenesis (178, 179).

Age is regarded as an independent risk factor for acquired hearing loss, although the specific effects leading to the pathophysiological phenotype may not be easy to separate from those of noise exposure in the clinical setting (194). Despite the fact that the mechanisms underlying hearing loss in association with the aging process (presbycusis) are strongly influenced by the genetic susceptibility of a given subject, the pathophysiology of the aging process itself is highly interconnected with increased oxidative stress and low-grade inflammation (158, 239), reflecting major pathomechanisms in NIHL (194). Therefore, oxidative stress and inflammation may represent a link between noise- and agerelated hearing loss and accordingly a unifying target in both complications. This concept is further supported by observations that high-intensity noise [105 dB(A)] induced more pronounced cochlear damage by aggravated impairment of cochlear blood flow in diabetic mice and also less efficient recovery in the hyperglycemic animals (87). This is an important observation since oxidative stress also plays a central role for the pathogenesis of diabetes (109, 176, 267).

Cochlear synaptic loss and hair cell death may play a role for noise- and age-related hearing impairment as observed on exposure to noise with an SPL of 100 dB(A) (8-16 kHz) for 2 h (132). When mice were exposed to that noise, there was a significant degree of synaptic loss and cochlear dysfunction starting at 16 weeks after exposure, which were not observed when mice were exposed to noise with an SPL of 91 dB(A) (8-16 kHz) for 2 h (77). The hearing loss even was evident 1 h after noise exposure, when noise with an SPL of 100 dB(A) at frequencies >22 kHz was applied for 2 h, indicating that higher frequencies are even more detrimental. The authors concluded that one single exposure to noise with SPL $\geq 100 \text{ dB}(A)$ can accelerate cochlear aging. When guinea pigs were exposed to noise with an SPL of $106 \, dB(A)$ (4-8 kHz) for 2 h, ~ 30% of the auditory nerve synapses on inner hair cells were lost, leading to cochlear neuropathy and partial hearing loss (77). Application of higher SPL of up to 120 dB(A) also results in structural damage in the mouse cochlea (183).

Reports on systemic effects of high-energy noise exposure were published for the prostaglandin E2-dependent hyperalgesia (increased inflammatory pain) of rats on exposure to a 105 dB tone with frequencies of 11–19 kHz (5 or 10 s per minute for 30 min per day) (124).

NOISE, OXIDATIVE STRESS, AND CARDIOVASCULAR RISK

Among the practical studies of induction of hearing loss, magnetic resonance imaging-induced acoustic noise was investigated, and it was found that SPL of 100 dB(A) and more can be reached that may cause inner ear damage not only to humans (patients and personnel) but also to companion and experimental animals (135). When hearing loss was induced in guinea pigs by exposure to noise with an SPL of 106 dB(A) for 30 min, red blood cell velocity was reduced gradually over 2 and 3.5 h as measured by *in vivo* fluorescence microscopy (12). This indicates that cochlear microcirculation plays an important role for the development of hearing loss.

2. Indirect, nonauditory vascular effects of $\leq 100 \text{ dB}(\text{A})$ noise exposure. There are only few experimental studies in animals on the mechanisms of noise-dependent effects on endothelial function and cardiovascular risk. When rats were exposed to noise for periods of 2 and 4 weeks (100 dB(A), 4 h/day, 6 days/week) endothelium-dependent vasodilation (measured by acetylcholine in the thoracic aorta) was impaired, the sensitivity to the vasoconstrictor serotonin, but not phenylephrine or potassium chloride was increased, and systolic BP was elevated by 31 mmHg (272). In a similar study, the same authors demonstrated an increase in systolic BP after 3 weeks (25 mmHg) and 4 weeks (37 mmHg) of noise exposure and pronounced endothelial dysfunction in isolated mesenteric arterial rings (273).

More recently, noise exposure of rats was reported to adversely affect the cardiovascular system by increased levels of circulating stress hormones (e.g., corticosterone, adrenaline, noradrenaline, endothelin-1 [ET-1]) and negatively affected oxidative stress markers, such as increased malondialdehyde and decreased SOD, all of which point toward endothelial dysfunction [octave band noise: 80–100 dB(A), 8–16 kHz, 8 h/ day for 20 days; 8 rats/group] (204). These elevated risk markers were associated with increased heart rate, mean arterial BP, and circulating nitrogen oxides, which could be a marker of **NO** coming from inducible NOS in inflammatory cells. Of note, these authors also compared different noise exposure protocols, and the most pronounced adverse effects were observed in the chronic exposure group (8 h/day for 20 days), whereas the single exposure for 12 h induced moderate impairments that were comparable with those observed on chronic intermittent noise exposure (8 h/day for a total of 20 days with 3 days of exposure followed by 2 days of cessation) (204). Also, oxidative DNA damage (detected by the comet assay) was observed in the rat heart and adrenal gland on noise exposure $\geq 100 \text{ dB}(A)$ (86, 139). Cardiovascular therapy using the cholesterol lowering substance rosuvastatin effectively prevented these adverse effects (70).

Likewise, exposure of rats to white noise (90 dB, 15 min daily for 3 weeks) caused adverse effects on the morphology of the intestinal mucosa with separated or even detached mucosal epithelial cells and evidence of edema (24). Recovery of rats for another 3 weeks improved epithelial integrity and partially the function of mucosal cells. Using a similar protocol, the same authors showed that noise exposure induces mesenteric microvascular structural damage with increased number of leaks that was significantly reduced by anti-inflammatory and antioxidant cotreatment (23). White noise exposure of 100 dB with frequencies of 0.4– 6.3 kHz (4 h per day for 30 days) caused a transient increase in blood glucose, markers of inflammation, triglycerides, and changes in the microbiome that returned to normal at 14 days after cessation of noise exposure (53).

In 1981, a study reported on increases of mean BP by 30 mmHg in response to noise exposure [mean SPL of 85 dB(A), six episodes per day for 9 months, 97 dB(A) peak level] in two chronically exposed monkeys without significant effects on the auditory system (185). In another study from the year 1992, rats were exposed to noise with an SPL of 85 dB(A) for 12 h/day for 8 weeks and subsequently with an SPL of 95 dB(A) for 16 h/day for 4 weeks, and an increase of systolic and diastolic BP by 16 mmHg was observed along with magnesium deficiency and reduced lumen sizes of microvessels (7). Exposure of guinea pigs to noise [70 or 90 dB(A)] resulted in gradual loss of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in the cochlea. VEGF is a proangiogenic factor that regulates vascular permeability and also displays neuroprotective properties (217). Exposure of rats to moderate noise with an SPL of 70 or 85 dB(A) (8-16 kHz; 6 h/day for 3 months) led to neuroendocrine modulation with increased corticosterone levels and increased lipid peroxidation being more pronounced in the 85 dB(A) group, whereas upregulation of antioxidant enzyme catalase and SOD was similar in both exposure groups (89). In addition, the authors reported on morphological changes in the heart [e.g., inflamed area of pericardium and dilated veins on 70 dB(A) exposure and more dilated veins in the periphery of pericardium on 85 dB(A) exposure] and analog changes in tissues of the thyroid and adrenal gland.

3. Indirect, nonauditory pathway activation with noise exposure $\leq 85 \text{ dB}(A)$. Our recently established protocol of noise exposure to study the effects of aircraft noise on vascular function consisted of repetitive playback of a 2-h-long noise pattern (69 aircraft noise events with a duration of 43 s) and a maximum SPL of 83 dB(A). The noise events were separated by irregularly distributed silent periods to prevent early adaptation. Downward facing loudspeakers were used for the playback of the noise pattern and were mounted $\sim 30 \text{ cm}$ above the plastic mouse cages (Fig. 14).

Playback of the noise pattern mp3 files was carried out using a Grundig MS 540 compact sound system with a total



FIG. 14. Setup of the noise exposure system used for the mouse studies.

output of 65 W. Loudness and corresponding SPL were calibrated with a Class II sound level meter (Casella CEL-246) within one of the cages at initial setup. Actual SPLs during exposure were continuously recorded during the study period using the same device placed between cages with an upward facing microphone. The average SPL (equivalent to dB L_{eq}) was 71.6 dB(A) with a usual intermediate background noise level of 50-55 dB(A) in the animal facility depending on the specific room. For investigation of the importance of specific noise patterns and characteristics, "white noise" was used as a control sound exposure with exactly the same average SPL and compared to the impact of continuous aircraft noise exposure for 1, 2, and 4 days on vascular function. "White noise" consists of a random noise with constant spectral density within the range of human hearing with frequencies of 20 Hz to 20 kHz.

Already after 24 h of continuous exposure to aircraft noise, we observed increased stress hormone levels for catecholamines Ang II and ET-1 (161). Also, oxidative stress markers such as 3-nitrotyrosine- and malondialdehyde-positive proteins and endothelial (vascular) dysfunction, as well as BP, were increased on noise over the entire exposure period relative to pre-exposure levels (Fig. 15). The increase in the NOX2 protein (phagocyte NADPH oxidase) content in the aorta of mice exposed to aircraft noise pointed toward increased infiltration of inflammatory cells into the vasculature as shown by FACS analyses (161). A major mechanism of the development of arterial hypertension consists of vascular infiltration of inflammatory cells leading to endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress, previously demonstrated by genetic/pharmacological deletion of LysM-positive cells (265) and recently reviewed in detail (266).

Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) uncoupling was revealed in the aorta and hearts from animals exposed to aircraft noise (161). The presence of uncoupled eNOS was supported by increased levels of endothelial ROS formation, which was inhibited by the eNOS inhibitor L-N^G-nitro-arginine [L-NAME; using the dihydroethidium cryostaining method (55)]. As a surrogate parameter for the uncoupling reaction, eNOS S-glutathionylation was found elevated in the heart and aorta on noise exposure (summarized in Fig. 16) (44).

GTP-cyclohydrolase-1 and dihydrofolate reductase are responsible for the synthesis and recycling of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), which is oxidized by high intracellular oxidative stress to the [•]BH3 radical, thereby causing functional depletion of the eNOS cofactor (29, 134, 212). The here observed increased expression of these enzymes in the noise-exposed groups points toward compensatory upregulation of these enzymes to overcome eNOS uncoupling and endothelial dysfunction. Accordingly, the [•]NO bioavailability was decreased in aorta of noise-exposed mice (measured by electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy). The increased sensitivity to vasoconstrictors, such as norepinephrine, and the elevated vascular ET-1 immunohistochemical staining further supported the observed endothelial dysfunction in response to noise exposure (Fig. 15).

Of note, exposure to "white noise" at similar mean SPL did not induce these adverse vascular effects in response to aircraft noise exposure, clearly indicating that not only the loudness (quantity) of a specific noise but also its characteristics (quality such as frequencies, pattern) determine its harmful effects (161).

4. Effects of aircraft noise on vascular gene regulation as established by next-generation sequencing. We were also able to identify significant alterations in gene expression profiles by using next-generation sequencing (NGS) (summarized in Fig. 16) (161). Pathway analysis by gene ontology annotation from NGS data revealed major changes in the vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) contraction pathway and TGF β - and Smad signaling. Significant changes were detected in the NF κ B-related pathway, adrenergic signal transduction, focal adhesion, cell cycle control, apoptosis, and kinase-mediated growth and proliferation signaling centered around the Forkhead-box-protein (Foxo) transcription factors herein (stress response and antioxidant defense) (161). The four strongest upregulated genes compared to controls were Zbtb44, Setad4, Ypel2, and Ihh and, similarly, a number of transcripts Sacs, Nbeal1, PTPN4, and NR4A3 were significantly reduced by noise (summarized in Fig. 16). These genes are quite novel in the context of cardiovascular physiology and are generally poorly understood. Therefore, their exact role in noise-induced pathophysiology warrants further investigation. Changes were also observed in expression of genes being involved in the regulation of the circadian rhythm, insulin, and calcineurin signaling pathways, although the relationship of these pathways to noise-induced vascular damage was not addressed in detail so far.

Zbtb44 codes for a highly conserved zinc finger domain DNA binding protein. It is involved in stem cell growth and responds to steroid and adrenergic stimulation (35, 271). The specific function in the cardiovascular vessels has not been determined. SERTAD4 is highly expressed in adult murine fibrous tissues. SERTAD4 resides predominantly in the nucleus throughout cell cycle progression and shows interaction with PP2A and PI3K (93, 186), which are crucial regulators in the pathways discussed here. Yipee-like 2 (YPEL2) is localized in the nucleus and contains several metal binding sites, it is known to interact with phosphatases and influences calcium signaling in cellular repolarization (11). Indian hedgehog (IHH) is involved in signaling and has been found among other pathways to participate in cartilage degeneration as well as in TGF β -driven chondrogenesis and ossification (99, 263). Sacsin is highly expressed in the central

FIG. 15. Selected data of our recently published noise exposure mouse study. Exposure to aircraft noise led to elevated systolic blood pressure (*red symbols*) (**A**), impaired endothelial function (**B**), reduced vascular NO levels [measured with EPR as described (128)] (**C**), and enhanced sensitivity to vasoconstrictors (**D**). Exposure to aircraft noise led to increased staining of vascular 3-nitrotyrosine-positive proteins (**E**, **F**) and vascular autocrine endothelin-1 production (**G**, **H**). The staining reflects representative immunohistochemical images. *Brown color* indicates 3-nitrotyrosine-positive proteins or endothelin-1 expression and localization. EPR, electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy; ET-1, endothelin-1. Modified from Münzel *et al.* (161) with permission of the publisher/authors. Copyright © 2017, Münzel *et al.* (open access). Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Cardiology.





FIG. 16. Postulated mechanisms of noise-induced (cardio)vascular damage are based on the vascular functional and observational parameters as well as results from next-generation sequencing of our recent mouse study on the effects of aircraft noise exposure on the cardiovascular system. eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; Foxo, Forkhead-box-protein; Ihh, Indian hedgehog; •NO, nitric oxide; Nox2, NADPH oxidase isoform 2, ROS, reactive oxygen species, Ypel2, Yipeelike 2.

nervous tissue and also shows abundant expression in fibrous tissue. It has chaperone-like function and is regulated by TGF β in epithelial–mesenchymal transition (241). NBEAL1 is known to be strongly expressed in the mouse aorta; its lysosomal import sequence may implicate a role in autophagy and hypoxia (45).

PTPN4 belongs to a superfamily of protein phosphatases that is associated with cytoskeletal proteins. It has a role in cell growth and motility in various tissues and cell lines (281). Downregulation of the nuclear orphan receptor NR4A3/NOR1 is known to contribute to the regulation of matrix metalloprotease in vascular tissue and to the activation of VSMCs (197, 198). Conservative promoter database analysis of transcription factor binding sites of the corresponding gene products showed many binding sites with redox-active and cysteine-rich transcription factors (NF- κ B, FOXO, and zinc-finger proteins) in the promoter regions of the eight most regulated genes (161). This might insinuate that noise-generated nitro-oxidative stress may directly influence transcription levels. Although these genes and their gene products are not well known in the cardiovascular context, through their interaction partners, they strongly contribute to the pathways discussed here.

ROS play a key role in linking the different pathways in the present NGS analysis (summarized in Fig. 16) (161). The IGF-1/insulin/PI3K/Akt pathway, for instance, can be activated *via* redox-sensitive mechanisms (10). Subsequently, Akt regulates the activity of FOXO transcription factors by phosphorylation, which has a transcriptional factor binding site on the *Nr4a3*, *Sod1*, and *glutathione peroxidase 1* gene promoter explaining at least, in part, the observed changes in the transcription level of the NGS experiment (253). Oxidative stress also directly regulates transcription factors FOXO and NF- κ B through reversible oxidation and reduction of cysteine residues (147), all of which may affect other transcription factors such as cysteine-rich zinc-finger pro-

teins such as ZBTB44. The changes in FOXO factor activity and other transcription factors may modulate cellular resistance capacity to oxidative stress by regulating key detoxification enzymes (*e.g.*, SOD2 and catalase) (147). By a similar mechanism, TGF- β 1 contributes to oxidative stress *via* decreasing the expression of antioxidant enzymes (*e.g.*, SOD, catalase, glutathione peroxidase) (196).

These events may result in increased vascular ROS production and reduced vascular NO-bioavailability in favor of the formation of the NO/superoxide reaction product peroxynitrite, leading to decreased cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) concentrations and sGC sensitivity along with an inhibition of the activity of the cGMP-dependent protein kinase I (cGK-I), which is able to induce major structural and transcriptional changes in smooth muscle cells. cGK-I may interact with the TGF β /Smad pathway, MAPK-signaling, as well as PI3K and FOXO pathways (76, 94, 144), which show relevant changes in the NGS transcription data. Some of the pathways modulated by nitrooxidative stress represent pathological mechanisms potentially mediating the detrimental effects of noise, while others are likely to reflect compensatory mechanisms in response to noise-induced injury.

Despite the presented evidence for potential redox regulation of vascular gene expression by noise exposure in multiple signaling pathways, we should keep in mind that the presented NGS data do not reflect posttranslational modifications of proteins (including kinases, phosphatases, and transcription factors), which undergo substantial changes in an oxidative stress milieu, largely affecting enzymatic function *via* sulfoxidation, S-nitros(yl)ation, S-glutathionylation, and phosphorylation. Accordingly, the overall impact of redox regulation on these multiple signaling pathways may be even more pronounced at the proteomic or metabolic level than expected by the established changes at the genomic level. These observations are also in good accordance with a recent overview on the impact of environmental stressors such as noise on redox-regulated epigenetic pathways published within this Forum (157).

5. Summary and conclusions of aircraft noise exposure in mice. Taken together, we propose the following pathophysiological sequence of events causing vascular damage in response to aircraft noise exposure (Fig. 16). Aircraft noise exposure leads to an overactivation of the sympathetic system, resulting in elevated levels of noradrenalin (NA), adrenalin (A), angiotensin II (Ang II), and subsequently cortisol. Angiotensin II, in turn, activates endothelial NADPH oxidase causing oxidative stress, which may induce direct scavenging of *NO and eNOS uncoupling through oxidation of BH4 and eNOS S-glutathionylation. ROS play a key role in linking different pathways, including PI3K/Akt signaling, the FOXO transcription factors, TGF- β 1 and NF- κB signaling, as well as the ET-1 system, increasing the circulating levels of IL-6, and the expression of vascular adhesion molecules.

Superoxide and [•]NO produced by infiltrating immune cells (neutrophils, natural killer cells, and monocytes/macrophages) promote the formation of 3-nitrotyrosine-, malondialdehyde-, and 4-hydroxynonenal-positive proteins and inflict additional cellular oxidative damage. The uncoupling of eNOS not only reduces NO production but also potentiates the pre-existing oxidative stress. Endothelial NO production is further reduced by glucocorticoids such as cortisol, leading to impaired vasodilation and increased BP. The overproduction of noradrenalin, adrenalin, and ET-1 enhances contraction, which is further potentiated by glucocorticoids. All of these vascular alterations support the development of metabolic disorders as envisaged by increased blood glucose levels. ET-1 expression levels were also reported to contribute to the phenotype of Alport (Col4a $3^{-/-}$) mice that display a particular susceptibility to toxic noise and represent a model of glomerular disease associated with hearing loss (151).

IV. Adverse Effects of Simultaneous Noise and Air Pollution Exposure

A. Adverse effects of noise and air pollution exposure share similar pathophysiological pathways

Recent data support the idea that air pollution and noise, similar to traditional risk factors, contribute to vascular (endothelial) dysfunction, hypertension, atherosclerosis, and other cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction, stroke, and congestive heart failure. In general, four pathways have been introduced to better explain the combined effects of air pollution and noise (Fig. 17): (i) a dysregulated autonomic nervous system and/or an activated sympathetic system; (ii) generation of mediators of inflammation, modified lipids, or phospholipids, and recruitment of different immune cell populations; (iii) oxidative impairment of endothelial dysfunction; and (iv) higher activity of prothrombotic signaling pathways (25, 66, 96, 207, 208). These adverse pathways may overlap and act synergistically, and may be activated at different points in time to noise or air pollution exposures, and have probably varying impact on cardiovascular events. The immediate effects observed within seconds/ minutes/hours after noise or particulate matter (PM) exposures are most probably conferred *via* alterations in autonomic tone and/or activation of the sympathetic system, impairment of endothelial function (161), increased levels of procoagulant proteins leading to higher activity of procoagulant pathways, and more frequent thrombotic events [for review, see Münzel *et al.* (167) and Newby *et al.* (174)] (Fig. 17).

Acute effects of air pollution and noise pollution are more likely in patients with higher susceptibility (e.g., with preexisting cardiovascular complications such as "vulnerable plaque," "vulnerable myocardium" (arrhythmias), or "vulnerable circulation"). Repeated exposures to environmental stressors mainly depend on the accumulation (duration of exposure), and accordingly, effects of noise and air pollution can be additive or synergistic. On chronic exposure also habituation/adaptation may occur, implying that most severe noise-induced physiologic effects are more likely within the first days of exposure. Likewise, the effects of noise observed in the field (where noise exposure of subjects for many years is frequently encountered) are usually less pronounced than those measured in laboratory conditions, where often exposures to unusual noise events are applied (25, 162, 187). Although a weaker response to air pollution on repeated exposure challenges would be in line with biological adaption processes, this was never shown in detail in a controlled experimental setting. Under specific circumstances, however, contrary observations could be made meaning that the second exposure may lead to more pronounced effects than the initial exposure, a physiological and medical phenomenon that is well known as "priming" (208).

B. Gaps in current knowledge concerning noise and air pollution

Only few studies investigate the additive or synergistic effects of simultaneous noise and air pollution exposure in humans (for animal research, we know not a single study addressing this issue). Studies in animals could answer important questions on the mechanisms of detrimental health effects by combined noise and air pollution exposures, providing the directions for future human studies. The questions comprise the extent and kinetics of response to coexposure, interactive effects of both factors on surrogate parameters (e.g., BP and metabolic risk), reversibility of effects, impact of low-grade background noise on air pollution exposure effects and vice versa, modulation of the circadian rhythm, and improvement by preventive measures and lifestyle changes (e.g., diet, stress, and exercise). Finally, new medical devices that allow to record health parameters as well as exposure levels to environmental pollutants may provide an important opportunity for research and understanding of the interactions of environmental with nonenvironmental risk factors (Fig. 18).

V. Other Environmental Risk Factors, Oxidative Stress, and Cardiovascular Disease

Exposure to environmental pollutants is a major but significantly underestimated risk factor that contributes to the onset and progression of CVD (52). The cardiovascular system is susceptible to damage by various environmental risk factors such as air pollution (*e.g.*, PM or reactive nitrogen/sulfur oxides) and heavy metals (*e.g.*, arsenic, cadmium, or lead). These environmental risk factors may, similar to the



FIG. 17. Proposed pathophysiological mechanisms of cardiovascular disease induced by environmental air pollution and noise. 7-KC, 7-ketocholesterol; ox-PAPC, oxidatively modified 1-palmitoyl-2-arachidonoyl-sn-phosphatidylcholine. Adapted from Münzel *et al.* (166) with permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2016, Oxford University Press.

traditional risk factors (*e.g.*, smoking, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus), increase the global burden of disease and mortality, also by adverse effects on regulatory pathways of vascular tone (leading to arterial hypertension), metabolism (leading to hyperlipidemia, obesity, and diabetes), and atherosclerosis. There is clear evidence that people living in highly polluted areas are at higher cardiovascular risk but more recently, there is also growing body of evidence that chronic exposure to these environmental risk factors, even at concentrations below the legal thresholds, leads to adverse effects on cardiovascular health.

Since most of these environmental pollutants are omnipresent, even their minor impact on cardiovascular risk has dramatic effects on public health (not only on mortality but also life years spent with severe illness and disability). Accordingly, as outlined above for the prevention of noiseinduced cardiovascular damage, mechanistic and epidemiological studies have been conducted or will address in the future how mitigation strategies can help to decrease the adverse health effects of air pollution and heavy metals. The list of environmental toxic compounds affecting cardiovascular health could be extended at will [*e.g.*, pesticidedriven oxidative stress (63, 259) and CVDs (129, 215)], but in the present review with the focus on environmental noise effects on cardiovascular function, we only want to mention air pollution representing another major environmental work of investigations that combine technological innovation in biometric data with personalized exposure information in real time to study interactive effects of environmental risk factors on cardiovascular endpoints. ABP, ambulant blood pressure monitoring; BC, black carbon; PM, particulate matter. Adapted from Münzel *et al.* (167) with permission of the publisher. Copyright © 2016, Oxford University Press.

FIG. 18. Hypothetical frame-



cardiovascular risk factor (166, 167) that is mostly associated with noise exposure (e.g., traffic generates noise and air pollution and these stressors cannot be easily separated). Other environmental stressors are only briefly mentioned, mostly since they are discussed in detail in the reviews included in this Forum.

A. Air pollution (PM/carbon black)

In contrast to the research on noise-induced cardiovascular risk, the cardiovascular effects of air pollution are well characterized demonstrating vascular (endothelial) dysfunction, vascular inflammation and, in the longer run, the development of atherosclerosis (192). In addition, exposure to PM increases oxidative stress within the vasculature and increases the sensitivity to vasoconstrictors (280). Recent publications based on epidemiological and experimental studies suggest additive damage of noise on air pollution-induced CVD (166, 234), although no study has ever investigated the functional and molecular mechanisms of the interaction of both environmental stressors for oxidative stress and the vasculature itself. In addition, the Heinz Nixdorf Recall study showed that environmental stress, for example, air pollution and traffic noise, is independently associated with increased aortic calcifications (121), another predictor of future cardiovascular events, which warrants detailed

basic science studies to gain more mechanistic insight in the pathophysiology of these potential additive adverse effects at the vascular level. In a small cohort trial, 18 healthy individuals were subjected to diesel exhaust at 276 g/m^3 from a passenger car or filtered air for 3 h, with coexposure to traffic noise at 48 or 75 dB(A) (107).

Exposure to diesel exhaust had no effects on genotoxicity, oxidative stress, or inflammation in white blood cells isolated from the subjects, whereas exposure to noise caused oxidative DNA damage. In another study, 18 highway maintenance workers were monitored with respect to their exposure to PM and traffic noise, significantly associated with C-reactive protein, serum amyloid A, increased heart rate variability, or systolic and diastolic BP (152). The impact of PM and diesel exhaust on oxidative stress pathways and inflammation was reviewed in full detail in two articles within this Forum (191, 270).

As outlined in a recent review article (52), around 7% of nonfatal myocardial infarctions (171) and 18% of sudden cardiac deaths (104) are potentially triggered by exposure to road traffic-dependent air pollution, representing comparable numbers to those published for the contribution of the major traditional and modifiable risk factors, from smoking, poor diet, or obesity to cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (104). Despite the relatively low contribution of air pollution to the individual risk of a single human being, the cumulative cardiovascular risk conferred by chronic exposure of a large part of the population to ubiquitous air pollution (the cumulative global disease burden) even ranks above physical exertion, coffee, and alcohol in a comparative risk assessment of the major triggers of myocardial infarction (171). Only diet, high BP, and smoking represent more important cardiovascular risk factors for life years with severe illness and disability than air pollution (278).

Strikingly, the short-term pollution-control activities (mainly reduction in traffic and industrial air pollution) applied during the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games led to a 13–60% reduction in the concentrations of air pollutants, which were perfectly mimicked by similar effects on biomarkers of inflammation, oxidative stress, and thrombosis in healthy adults (110, 126, 195, 203). Unfortunately, the beneficial effects quickly returned back to normal when the restrictions for air pollution were invalidated after the Olympic Games.

An important feature of the ENNAH Network (see also the Introduction section) was the involvement of researchers mainly working on air pollution allowing joint considerations of the effects of both environmental risk factors, transportation noise and air pollution on public health (3). The EU made efforts in supporting cohort studies on the effects of air pollution on public health by substantial funds. ENNAH provided an excellent platform for exploitation of existing European cohort data that provide reliable information on air pollution and enriching these cohort data on air pollution with noise components from existing noise maps. These joint studies may have direct impact on transportation and environmental guidelines with respect to future policies in air pollution and/or noise thresholds and the development of new mitigation strategies. Therefore, the ENNAH Network represents one of the first large initiatives to plan future research on the synergistic effects of air pollution and noise exposure on public health.

B. Other environmental stressors

Chronic mental stress in turn has been demonstrated to generate its own cardiovascular risk factors such as increased BP and dyslipidemia, increased blood viscosity and blood glucose, and activation of blood clotting factors (13). Findings from a large pan-European epidemiological study in 124,808 diabetes-free subjects indicate that job strain is a risk factor for type 2 diabetes in men and women independent of other lifestyle factors such as obesity and physical inactivity (175). A meta-analysis of nine case/control and cohort studies of good methodological quality showed positive associations between hypertension and job strain (22). The impact of mental stress on oxidative stress pathways and inflammation was reviewed in full detail by Siegrist and Sies (221) and in two articles within this Forum (155, 274).

Environmental exposure to electromagnetic radiation (EMR) has been increasing with higher demand for advanced communication infrastructure (*e.g.*, Wi-Fi) and devices (smart phones). The effects of EMR on oxidative stress, inflammation, and reproduction were previously reviewed (172). However, a recent critical review led to the conclusion that standardized protocols are required to obtain reliable data leading to better understanding of the underlying mechanisms (90).

As outlined in a recent review article (52), there is substantial evidence from epidemiological and experimental data suggesting that heavy metals [*e.g.*, cadmium (248), a systematic review of 31 studies and lead, a systematic review of 12 studies (170)] and metalloids [*e.g.*, arsenic, a systematic review of 12 studies (160)] can trigger CVDs. A modulation of BP, lipid metabolism, atherogenesis, and endothelial function was observed in response to these compounds (188). In the plasma, serum, and atherosclerotic lesions of mice treated with arsenic, increased levels of proinflammatory chemokines, cytokines, and markers of oxidative stress were observed (232).

Likewise, cadmium leads to vascular damage, endothelial dysfunction, and atherosclerosis by oxidative mechanisms (*e.g.*, by replacement of iron and copper in sulfur complexes, promoting Fenton reactions) (153, 154), interference with antioxidant responses (*e.g.*, by disruption of zinc/sulfur complexes) (54), and inhibition of [•]NO-mediated vasodilation (6). Of note, lead inhibits the [•]NO/soluble guanylate cyclase signaling pathway, stimulates the renin–angiotensin– aldosterone system and the sympathetic nervous system, and activates protein kinase C activity, all of which resemble strikingly the adverse effects of noise exposure on the cardiovascular system (258). The impact of environmental chemicals such as heavy metals on oxidative stress pathways and epigenetic gene regulation was reviewed in full detail in an article within this Forum (157).

VI. Summary and Future Perspectives

Taken together, the present review summarizes important mechanisms for the development of cardiometabolic diseases in response to exposure to noise (and other environmental stressors). Noise leads to oxidative stress, vascular dysfunction, autonomic imbalance, and metabolic abnormalities, further increasing the adverse health effects of classical risk factors such as arterial hypertension, diabetes,



Substantial epidemiologic evidence for noise-triggered cardiovascular and metabolic diseases but only marginal mechanistic insight Numerous mechanistic data on noise-mediated damage but almost no evidence-based data for noisetriggered cardiovascular and metabolic diseases

FIG. 19. Overview on human and animal evidence of noise-induced cardiovascular complications. IL-6, interleukin-6; SOD, superoxide dismutase.

hypercholesterolemia, and smoking (*e.g.*, accelerated progression of atherosclerosis and higher susceptibility to cardiovascular events). While there is substantial clinical symptomatic evidence but only minor mechanistic insight from human studies, there is appreciable experimental animal data available on underlying mechanisms but only few reports on the impact of chronic noise on disease progression in animal models (Fig. 19).

Importantly, both noise and air pollution seem to cause vascular dysfunction by inducing oxidative stress involving partly similar enzymatic pathways, which warrants further preclinical studies addressing this topic. A note of caution with respect to the choice of suitable oxidative stress markers and their interpretation in the context of environmental stressors was published in this Forum (91).

An effective reaction toward reducing environmental transportation noise exposures would require a paradigm shift in human activity and long-term costly mitigation strategies. Given the colocalization of noise and air pollution in big cities and the expected additive benefits of reducing both stressors, an alteration of the current approach, which considers the two exposures separately, may be required. Furthermore, even attempts that address several environmental risk factors simultaneously, changing urban models completely, need to be considered and may lead to cobenefits such as greenhouse gas reduction and increased physical activity of the population. Given the increasing evidence for synergistic/additive effects of air and noise pollution as significant risk factors, their contribution to the pathogenesis of CVD needs to be considered. Accordingly, these environmental stressors should be acknowledged in current guidelines for cardiovascular prevention, acute coronary syndrome, and congestive heart failure.

Acknowledgments

We thank Margot Neuser for graphical support. Our studies were continuously supported by the Center for Translational Vascular Biology (CTVB) and the Center for Thrombosis and Hemostasis (CTH, funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, BMBF 01EO1003) of Johannes Gutenberg University Medical Center (Mainz, Germany; A.D. und T.M.). Our experimental studies on noise effects in mice were supported by vascular biology research grants from the Foundation Heart of Mainz and the Boehringer Ingelheim Foundation for the

Partner Site Rhine-Main (Mainz, Germany).

References

 Spiegel Online. 1968. www.spiegel.de/spiegel/print/d-46106751.html (accessed February 9, 2018).

of the DZHK (German Center for Cardiovascular Research),

- WHO and JRC Report. Burden of disease from environmental noise. 20113. www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_ file/0008/136466/e94888.pdf (accessed February 9, 2018).
- 3. ENNAH—European Network on Noise and Health. 2013. http://www.ennah.eu/home?lang=en (accessed February 9, 2018).
- 4. Noise in Europe 2014. EEA Report 10. 2014. www.eea. europa.eu/publications/noise-in-europe-2014 (accessed February 9, 2018).
- 5. Al Mheid I, Corrigan F, Shirazi F, Veledar E, Li Q, Alexander WR, Taylor WR, Waller EK, and Quyyumi AA. Circadian variation in vascular function and regenerative capacity in healthy humans. *J Am Heart Assoc* 3: e000845, 2014.
- 6. Almenara CC, Broseghini-Filho GB, Vescovi MV, Angeli JK, Faria Tde O, Stefanon I, Vassallo DV, and Padilha AS. Chronic cadmium treatment promotes oxidative stress and endothelial damage in isolated rat aorta. *PLoS One* 8: e68418, 2013.
- Altura BM, Altura BT, Gebrewold A, Ising H, and Gunther T. Noise-induced hypertension and magnesium in rats: relationship to microcirculation and calcium. *J Appl Physiol* (1985) 72: 194–202, 1992.
- Alzoubi KH, Khabour OF, Albawaana AS, Alhashimi FH, and Athamneh RY. Tempol prevents chronic sleepdeprivation induced memory impairment. *Brain Res Bull* 120: 144–150, 2016.
- 9. Amir O, Alroy S, Schliamser JE, Asmir I, Shiran A, Flugelman MY, Halon DA, and Lewis BS. Brachial artery endothelial function in residents and fellows working night shifts. *Am J Cardiol* 93: 947–949, 2004.
- Anselm E, Socorro VF, Dal-Ros S, Schott C, Bronner C, and Schini-Kerth VB. Crataegus special extract WS 1442 causes endothelium-dependent relaxation via a redoxsensitive Src- and Akt-dependent activation of endothelial NO synthase but not via activation of estrogen receptors. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 53: 253–260, 2009.
- 11. Arking DE, Pulit SL, Crotti L, van der Harst P, Munroe PB, Koopmann TT, Sotoodehnia N, Rossin EJ, Morley M, Wang X, Johnson AD, Lundby A, Gudbjartsson DF, Noseworthy PA, Eijgelsheim M, Bradford Y, Tarasov KV, Dorr M, Muller-Nurasyid M, Lahtinen AM, Nolte IM, Smith AV, Bis JC, Isaacs A, Newhouse SJ, Evans DS, Post WS, Waggott D, Lyytikainen LP, Hicks AA, Eisele L, Ellinghaus D, Hayward C, Navarro P, Ulivi S, Tanaka T, Tester DJ, Chatel S, Gustafsson S, Kumari M, Morris RW, Naluai AT, Padmanabhan S, Kluttig A, Strohmer B, Panaviotou AG, Torres M, Knoflach M, Hubacek JA, Slowikowski K, Raychaudhuri S, Kumar RD, Harris TB, Launer LJ, Shuldiner AR, Alonso A, Bader JS, Ehret G, Huang H, Kao WH, Strait JB, Macfarlane PW, Brown M, Caulfield MJ, Samani NJ, Kronenberg F, Willeit J, Smith JG, Greiser KH, Meyer Zu Schwabedissen H, Werdan K,

Carella M, Zelante L, Heckbert SR, Psaty BM, Rotter JI, Kolcic I, Polasek O, Wright AF, Griffin M, Daly MJ, Arnar DO, Holm H, Thorsteinsdottir U, Denny JC, Roden DM, Zuvich RL, Emilsson V, Plump AS, Larson MG, O'Donnell CJ, Yin X, Bobbo M, D'Adamo AP, Iorio A, Sinagra G, Carracedo A, Cummings SR, Nalls MA, Jula A, Kontula KK, Marjamaa A, Oikarinen L, Perola M, Porthan K, Erbel R, Hoffmann P, Jockel KH, Kalsch H, Nothen MM, den Hoed M, Loos RJ, Thelle DS, Gieger C, Meitinger T, Perz S, Peters A, Prucha H, Sinner MF, Waldenberger M, de Boer RA, Franke L, van der Vleuten PA, Beckmann BM, Martens E, Bardai A, Hofman N, Wilde AA, Behr ER, Dalageorgou C, Giudicessi JR, Medeiros-Domingo A, Barc J, Kyndt F, Probst V, Ghidoni A, Insolia R, Hamilton RM, Scherer SW, Brandimarto J, Margulies K, Moravec CE, del Greco MF, Fuchsberger C, O'Connell JR, Lee WK, Watt GC, Campbell H, Wild SH, El Mokhtari NE, Frey N, Asselbergs FW, Mateo Leach I, Navis G, van den Berg MP, van Veldhuisen DJ, Kellis M, Krijthe BP, Franco OH, Hofman A, Kors JA, Uitterlinden AG, Witteman JC, Kedenko L, Lamina C, Oostra BA, Abecasis GR, Lakatta EG, Mulas A, Orru M, Schlessinger D, Uda M, Markus MR, Volker U, Snieder H, Spector TD, Arnlov J, Lind L, Sundstrom J, Syvanen AC, Kivimaki M, Kahonen M, Mononen N, Raitakari OT, Viikari JS, Adamkova V, Kiechl S, Brion M, Nicolaides AN, Paulweber B, Haerting J, Dominiczak AF, Nyberg F, Whincup PH, Hingorani AD, Schott JJ, Bezzina CR, Ingelsson E, Ferrucci L, Gasparini P, Wilson JF, Rudan I, Franke A, Muhleisen TW, Pramstaller PP, Lehtimaki TJ, Paterson AD, Parsa A, Liu Y, van Duijn CM, Siscovick DS, Gudnason V, Jamshidi Y, Salomaa V, Felix SB, Sanna S, Ritchie MD, Stricker BH, Stefansson K, Boyer LA, Cappola TP, Olsen JV, Lage K, Schwartz PJ, Kaab S, Chakravarti A, Ackerman MJ, Pfeufer A, de Bakker PI, and Newton-Cheh C. Genetic association study of QT interval highlights role for calcium signaling pathways in myocardial repolarization. Nat Genet 46: 826-836, 2014.

- Arpornchayanon W, Canis M, Suckfuell M, Ihler F, Olzowy B, and Strieth S. Modeling the measurements of cochlear microcirculation and hearing function after loud noise. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 145: 463–469, 2011.
- 13. Babisch W. The noise/stress concept, risk assessment and research needs. *Noise Health* 4: 1–11, 2002.
- Babisch W. Stress hormones in the research on cardiovascular effects of noise. *Noise Health* 5: 1–11, 2003.
- Babisch W. Transportation noise and cardiovascular risk: updated review and synthesis of epidemiological studies indicate that the evidence has increased. *Noise Health* 8: 1–29, 2006.
- Babisch W. Cardiovascular effects of noise. *Noise Health* 13: 201–204, 2011.
- Babisch W. Updated exposure-response relationship between road traffic noise and coronary heart diseases: a meta-analysis. *Noise Health* 16: 1–9, 2014.
- Babisch W, Beule B, Ising H, Kersten N, Schust M, and Wende H. Noise burden and the risk of myocardial infarction: false interpretation of results due to inadequate treatment of data. *Eur Heart J* 27: 623–624; author reply 624, 2006.
- 19. Babisch W, Houthuijs D, Pershagen G, Cadum E, Katsouyanni K, Velonakis M, Dudley ML, Marohn HD,

Swart W, Breugelmans O, Bluhm G, Selander J, Vigna-Taglianti F, Pisani S, Haralabidis A, Dimakopoulou K, Zachos I, Jarup L, and Consortium H. Annoyance due to aircraft noise has increased over the years—results of the HYENA study. *Environ Int* 35: 1169–1176, 2009.

- 20. Babisch W, Ising H, Gallacher JE, Sweetnam PM, and Elwood PC. Traffic noise and cardiovascular risk: the Caerphilly and Speedwell studies, third phase—10-year follow up. *Arch Environ Health* 54: 210–216, 1999.
- Babisch W, Pershagen G, Selander J, Houthuijs D, Breugelmans O, Cadum E, Vigna-Taglianti F, Katsouyanni K, Haralabidis AS, Dimakopoulou K, Sourtzi P, Floud S, and Hansell AL. Noise annoyance—a modifier of the association between noise level and cardiovascular health? *Sci Total Environ* 452–453: 50–57, 2013.
- 22. Babu GR, Jotheeswaran AT, Mahapatra T, Mahapatra S, Kumar A, Sr., Detels R, and Pearce N. Is hypertension associated with job strain? A meta-analysis of observational studies. *Occup Environ Med* 71: 220–227, 2014.
- Baldwin AL and Bell IR. Effect of noise on microvascular integrity in laboratory rats. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci 46: 58–65, 2007.
- Baldwin AL, Primeau RL, and Johnson WE. Effect of noise on the morphology of the intestinal mucosa in laboratory rats. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci 45: 74–82, 2006.
- Basner M, Samel A, and Isermann U. Aircraft noise effects on sleep: application of the results of a large polysomnographic field study. J Acoust Soc Am 119: 2772– 2784, 2006.
- Bassil M, Li Y, and Anand-Srivastava MB. Peroxynitrite inhibits the expression of G(i)alpha protein and adenylyl cyclase signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 294: H775–H784, 2008.
- 27. Beckman JS. Oxidative damage and tyrosine nitration from peroxynitrite. *Chem Res Toxicol* 9: 836–844, 1996.
- Beckman JS and Koppenol WH. Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite: the good, the bad, and ugly. *Am J Physiol* 271: C1424–C1437, 1996.
- Bendall JK, Douglas G, McNeill E, Channon KM, and Crabtree MJ. Tetrahydrobiopterin in cardiovascular health and disease. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 20: 3040– 3077, 2014.
- Bergomi M, Rovesti S, and Vivoli G. Biological response to noise and other physical stressors in places of entertainment. *Public Health Rev* 19: 263–275, 1991.
- 31. Beutel ME, Junger C, Klein EM, Wild P, Lackner K, Blettner M, Binder H, Michal M, Wiltink J, Brahler E, and Münzel T. Noise annoyance is associated with depression and anxiety in the general population—the contribution of aircraft noise. *PLoS One* 11: e0155357, 2016.
- Bielefeld EC, Hu BH, Harris KC, and Henderson D. Damage and threshold shift resulting from cochlear exposure to paraquat-generated superoxide. *Hear Res* 207: 35–42, 2005.
- 33. Bjor B, Burstrom L, Karlsson M, Nilsson T, Naslund U, and Wiklund U. Acute effects on heart rate variability when exposed to hand transmitted vibration and noise. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 81: 193–199, 2007.
- 34. Born J and Fehm HL. The neuroendocrine recovery function of sleep. *Noise Health* 2: 25–38, 2000.
- 35. Brandenberger R, Wei H, Zhang S, Lei S, Murage J, Fisk GJ, Li Y, Xu C, Fang R, Guegler K, Rao MS, Mandalam R, Lebkowski J, and Stanton LW. Transcriptome characterization elucidates signaling networks that control hu-

man ES cell growth and differentiation. *Nat Biotechnol* 22: 707–716, 2004.

- Buccelletti E, Gilardi E, Scaini E, Galiuto L, Persiani R, Biondi A, Basile F, and Silveri NG. Heart rate variability and myocardial infarction: systematic literature review and metanalysis. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* 13: 299– 307, 2009.
- Buxton OM, Pavlova M, Reid EW, Wang W, Simonson DC, and Adler GK. Sleep restriction for 1 week reduces insulin sensitivity in healthy men. *Diabetes* 59: 2126– 2133, 2010.
- Cappuccio FP, Cooper D, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, and Miller MA. Sleep duration predicts cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Eur Heart J* 32: 1484–1492, 2011.
- 39. Cappuccio FP, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, and Miller MA. Quantity and quality of sleep and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 33: 414–420, 2010.
- 40. Carreras A, Zhang SX, Peris E, Qiao Z, Gileles-Hillel A, Li RC, Wang Y, and Gozal D. Chronic sleep fragmentation induces endothelial dysfunction and structural vascular changes in mice. *Sleep* 37: 1817–1824, 2014.
- 41. Chan SH and Chan JY. Angiotensin-generated reactive oxygen species in brain and pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 19: 1074–1084, 2013.
- Chang TY, Lai YA, Hsieh HH, Lai JS, and Liu CS. Effects of environmental noise exposure on ambulatory blood pressure in young adults. *Environ Res* 109: 900–905, 2009.
- 43. Charakida M and Deanfield JE. Nighttime aircraft noise exposure: flying towards arterial disease. *Eur Heart J* 34: 3472–3474, 2013.
- 44. Chen CA, Wang TY, Varadharaj S, Reyes LA, Hemann C, Talukder MA, Chen YR, Druhan LJ, and Zweier JL. Sglutathionylation uncouples eNOS and regulates its cellular and vascular function. *Nature* 468: 1115–1118, 2010.
- 45. Chen J, Lu Y, Xu J, Huang Y, Cheng H, Hu G, Luo C, Lou M, Cao G, Xie Y, and Ying K. Identification and characterization of NBEAL1, a novel human neurobeachin-like 1 protein gene from fetal brain, which is up regulated in glioma. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 125: 147–155, 2004.
- 46. Chien KL, Chen PC, Hsu HC, Su TC, Sung FC, Chen MF, and Lee YT. Habitual sleep duration and insomnia and the risk of cardiovascular events and all-cause death: report from a community-based cohort. *Sleep* 33: 177–184, 2010.
- 47. Choi SH and Choi CH. Noise-induced neural degeneration and therapeutic effect of antioxidant drugs. *J Audiol Otol* 19: 111–119, 2015.
- Christensen JS, Hjortebjerg D, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Ketzel M, Sörensen TI, and Sörensen M. Pregnancy and childhood exposure to residential traffic noise and overweight at 7 years of age. *Environ Int* 94: 170–176, 2016.
- 49. Christensen JS, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Tjonneland A, Nordsborg RB, Jensen SS, Sörensen TI, and Sörensen M. Long-term exposure to residential traffic noise and changes in body weight and waist circumference: a cohort study. *Environ Res* 143: 154–161, 2015.
- Christensen JS, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, Nordsborg RB, Ketzel M, Sörensen T, and Sörensen M. Road traffic and railway noise exposures and

- Correia AW, Peters JL, Levy JI, Melly S, and Dominici F. Residential exposure to aircraft noise and hospital admissions for cardiovascular diseases: multi-airport retrospective study. *BMJ* 347: f5561, 2013.
- 52. Cosselman KE, Navas-Acien A, and Kaufman JD. Environmental factors in cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* 12: 627–642, 2015.
- 53. Cui B, Gai Z, She X, Wang R, and Xi Z. Effects of chronic noise on glucose metabolism and gut microbiotahost inflammatory homeostasis in rats. *Sci Rep* 6: 36693, 2016.
- 54. Cuypers A, Plusquin M, Remans T, Jozefczak M, Keunen E, Gielen H, Opdenakker K, Nair AR, Munters E, Artois TJ, Nawrot T, Vangronsveld J, and Smeets K. Cadmium stress: an oxidative challenge. *Biometals* 23: 927–940, 2010.
- 54a. Daiber A and Münzel T. Pentaerythrityltetranitrat— Oxidativer Stress, Redoxregulation und NO-Bioverfügbarkeit—experimentelle und klinische Aspekte. Darmstadt: Steinkopff Verlag, 2006.
- 55. Daiber A, Oelze M, Steven S, Kröller-Schön S, and Münzel T. Taking up the cudgels for the traditional reactive oxygen and nitrogen species detection assays and their use in the cardiovascular system. *Redox Biol* 12: 35– 49, 2017.
- 56. This reference has been deleted.
- 57. Daiber A, Steven S, Weber A, Shuvaev VV, Muzykantov VR, Laher I, Li H, Lamas S, and Münzel T. Targeting vascular (endothelial) dysfunction. *Br J Pharmacol* 174: 1591–1619, 2017.
- 58. This reference has been deleted.
- de Kluizenaar Y, Gansevoort RT, Miedema HM, and de Jong PE. Hypertension and road traffic noise exposure. *J Occup Environ Med* 49: 484–492, 2007.
- den Boer LC and Schroten A. Traffic noise reduction in Europe. *CE Delft*, 2007. www.cedelft.eu/publicatie/traffic_ noise_reduction_in_europe/821 (accessed February 9, 2018).
- 61. Dimakopoulou K, Koutentakis K, Papageorgiou I, Kasdagli MI, Haralabidis AS, Sourtzi P, Samoli E, Houthuijs D, Swart W, Hansell AL, and Katsouyanni K. Is aircraft noise exposure associated with cardiovascular disease and hypertension? Results from a cohort study in Athens, Greece. *Occup Environ Med* 74: 830–837, 2017.
- 62. Dratva J, Phuleria HC, Foraster M, Gaspoz J-M, Keidel D, Künzli N, Liu LJS, Pons M, Zemp E, Gerbase MW, and Schindler C. Transportation noise and blood pressure in a population-based sample of adults. *Environ Health Perspect* 120: 50–55, 2012.
- Drechsel DA and Patel M. Role of reactive oxygen species in the neurotoxicity of environmental agents implicated in Parkinson's disease. *Free Radic Biol Med* 44: 1873–1886, 2008.
- 64. Dzhambov AM and Dimitrova DD. Children's blood pressure and its association with road traffic noise exposure—a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Environ Res* 152: 244–255, 2017.
- 65. Egea J, Fabregat I, Frapart YM, Ghezzi P, Gorlach A, Kietzmann T, Kubaichuk K, Knaus UG, Lopez MG, Olaso-Gonzalez G, Petry A, Schulz R, Vina J, Winyard P, Abbas K, Ademowo OS, Afonso CB, Andreadou I, Antelmann H, Antunes F, Aslan M, Bachschmid MM,

Barbosa RM, Belousov V, Berndt C, Bernlohr D, Bertran E, Bindoli A, Bottari SP, Brito PM, Carrara G, Casas AI, Chatzi A, Chondrogianni N, Conrad M, Cooke MS, Costa JG, Cuadrado A, My-Chan Dang P, De Smet B, Debelec-Butuner B, Dias IHK, Dunn JD, Edson AJ, El Assar M, El-Benna J, Ferdinandy P, Fernandes AS, Fladmark KE, Forstermann U, Giniatullin R, Giricz Z, Gorbe A, Griffiths H, Hampl V, Hanf A, Herget J, Hernansanz-Agustin P, Hillion M, Huang J, Ilikay S, Jansen-Durr P, Jaquet V, Joles JA, Kalyanaraman B, Kaminskyy D, Karbaschi M, Kleanthous M, Klotz LO, Korac B, Korkmaz KS, Koziel R, Kracun D, Krause KH, Kren V, Krieg T, Laranjinha J, Lazou A, Li H, Martinez-Ruiz A, Matsui R, McBean GJ, Meredith SP, Messens J, Miguel V, Mikhed Y, Milisav I, Milkovic L, Miranda-Vizuete A, Mojovic M, Monsalve M, Mouthuy PA, Mulvey J, Münzel T, Muzykantov V, Nguyen ITN, Oelze M, Oliveira NG, Palmeira CM, Papaevgeniou N, Pavicevic A, Pedre B, Peyrot F, Phylactides M, Pircalabioru GG, Pitt AR, Poulsen HE, Prieto I, Rigobello MP, Robledinos-Anton N, Rodriguez-Manas L, Rolo AP, Rousset F, Ruskovska T, Saraiva N, Sasson S,

- Kolo AI, Kousset F, Ruskovska F, Satalva K, Sassoli S, Schroder K, Semen K, Seredenina T, Shakirzyanova A, Smith GL, Soldati T, Sousa BC, Spickett CM, Stancic A, Stasia MJ, Steinbrenner H, Stepanic V, Steven S, Tokatlidis K, Tuncay E, Turan B, Ursini F, Vacek J, Vajnerova O, Valentova K, Van Breusegem F, Varisli L, Veal EA, Yalcin AS, Yelisyeyeva O, Zarkovic N, Zatloukalova M, Zielonka J, Touyz RM, Papapetropoulos A, Grune T, Lamas S, Schmidt H, Di Lisa F, and Daiber A. European contribution to the study of ROS: a summary of the findings and prospects for the future from the COST action BM1203 (EU-ROS). *Redox Biol* 13: 94–162, 2017.
- 66. Elmenhorst EM, Elmenhorst D, Wenzel J, Quehl J, Mueller U, Maass H, Vejvoda M, and Basner M. Effects of nocturnal aircraft noise on cognitive performance in the following morning: dose-response relationships in laboratory and field. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 83: 743– 751, 2010.
- Elmenhorst EM, Quehl J, Muller U, and Basner M. Nocturnal air, road, and rail traffic noise and daytime cognitive performance and annoyance. *J Acoust Soc Am* 135: 213–222, 2014.
- Eriksson C, Hilding A, Pyko A, Bluhm G, Pershagen G, and Ostenson CG. Long-term aircraft noise exposure and body mass index, waist circumference, and type 2 diabetes: a prospective study. *Environ Health Perspect* 122: 687–694, 2014.
- Eriksson C, Rosenlund M, Pershagen G, Hilding A, Ostenson CG, and Bluhm G. Aircraft noise and incidence of hypertension. *Epidemiology* 18: 716–721, 2007.
- Ersoy A, Koc ER, Sahin S, Duzgun U, Acar B, and Ilhan A. Possible effects of rosuvastatin on noise-induced oxidative stress in rat brain. *Noise Health* 16: 18–25, 2014.
- Evans GW, Bullinger M, and Hygge S. Chronic noise and psycholgical stress. *Psychol Sci* 6: 333–338, 1995.
- 72. Evans GW, Bullinger M, and Hygge S. Chronic noise expsoure and psychological response: a prospective study of children living under environmental stress. *Psychol Sci* 9: 75–77, 1998.
- Evans GW, Lercher P, Meis M, Ising H, and Kofler WW. Community noise exposure and stress in children. J Acoust Soc Am 109: 1023–1027, 2001.
- 74. Evrard AS, Lefèvre M, Champelovier P, Lambert J, and Laumon B. Does aircraft noise exposure increase the risk

of hypertension in the population living near airports in France? *Occup Environ Med* 74: 123–129, 2017.

- 75. Eze IC, Foraster M, Schaffner E, Vienneau D, Héritier H, Rudzik F, Thiesse L, Pieren R, Imboden M, von Eckardstein A, Schindler C, Brink M, Cajochen C, Wunderli JM, Röösli M, and Probst-Hensch N. Long-term exposure to transportation noise and air pollution in relation to incident diabetes in the SAPALDIA study. *Int J Epidemiol* 46: 1115–1125, 2017.
- Feil R, Lohmann SM, de Jonge H, Walter U, and Hofmann F. Cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinases and the cardiovascular system: insights from genetically modified mice. *Circ Res* 93: 907–916, 2003.
- 77. Fernandez KA, Jeffers PW, Lall K, Liberman MC, and Kujawa SG. Aging after noise exposure: acceleration of cochlear synaptopathy in "recovered" ears. *J Neurosci* 35: 7509–7520, 2015.
- Ferrie JE, Shipley MJ, Cappuccio FP, Brunner E, Miller MA, Kumari M, and Marmot MG. A prospective study of change in sleep duration: associations with mortality in the Whitehall II cohort. *Sleep* 30: 1659–1666, 2007.
- 79. Fetoni AR, Eramo SL, Paciello F, Rolesi R, Samengo D, Paludetti G, Troiani D, and Pani G. The redox protein p66(shc) mediates cochlear vascular dysfunction and transient noise-induced hearing loss. *Sci Rep* 6: 25450, 2016.
- Fetoni AR, Paciello F, Rolesi R, Eramo SL, Mancuso C, Troiani D, and Paludetti G. Rosmarinic acid up-regulates the noise-activated Nrf2/HO-1 pathway and protects against noise-induced injury in rat cochlea. *Free Radic Biol Med* 85: 269–281, 2015.
- Flammer AJ, Anderson T, Celermajer DS, Creager MA, Deanfield J, Ganz P, Hamburg NM, Luscher TF, Shechter M, Taddei S, Vita JA, and Lerman A. The assessment of endothelial function: from research into clinical practice. *Circulation* 126: 753–767, 2012.
- 82. Floud S, Blangiardo M, Clark C, de Hoogh K, Babisch W, Houthuijs D, Swart W, Pershagen G, Katsouyanni K, Velonakis M, Vigna-Taglianti F, Cadum E, and Hansell AL. Exposure to aircraft and road traffic noise and associations with heart disease and stroke in six European countries: a cross-sectional study. *Environ Health* 12: 89, 2013.
- 83. This reference has been deleted.
- 84. Foraster M, Eze IC, Vienneau D, Brink M, Cajochen C, Caviezel S, Heritier H, Schaffner E, Schindler C, Wanner M, Wunderli JM, Roosli M, and Probst-Hensch N. Longterm transportation noise annoyance is associated with subsequent lower levels of physical activity. *Environ Int* 91: 341–349, 2016.
- 85. Foraster M, Kunzli N, Aguilera I, Rivera M, Agis D, Vila J, Bouso L, Deltell A, Marrugat J, Ramos R, Sunyer J, Elosua R, and Basagana X. High blood pressure and long-term exposure to indoor noise and air pollution from road traffic. *Environ Health Perspect* 122: 1193–1200, 2014.
- 86. Frenzilli G, Lenzi P, Scarcelli V, Fornai F, Pellegrini A, Soldani P, Paparelli A, and Nigro M. Effects of loud noise exposure on DNA integrity in rat adrenal gland. *Environ Health Perspect* 112: 1671–1672, 2004.
- Fujita T, Yamashita D, Katsunuma S, Hasegawa S, Tanimoto H, and Nibu K. Increased inner ear susceptibility to noise injury in mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Diabetes* 61: 2980–2986, 2012.

- 88. Fuks KB, Weinmayr G, Basagana X, Gruzieva O, Hampel R, Oftedal B, Sörensen M, Wolf K, Aamodt G, Aasvang GM, Aguilera I, Becker T, Beelen R, Brunekreef B, Caracciolo B, Cyrys J, Elosua R, Eriksen KT, Foraster M, Fratiglioni L, Hilding A, Houthuijs D, Korek M, Kunzli N, Marrugat J, Nieuwenhuijsen M, Ostenson CG, Penell J, Pershagen G, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Swart WJR, Peters A, and Hoffmann B. Long-term exposure to ambient air pollution and traffic noise and incident hypertension in seven cohorts of the European study of cohorts for air pollution effects (ESCAPE). *Eur Heart J* 38: 983–990, 2017.
- 89. Gannouni N, Mhamdi A, Tebourbi O, El May M, Sakly M, and Rhouma KB. Qualitative and quantitative assessment of noise at moderate intensities on extra-auditory system in adult rats. *Noise Health* 15: 406–411, 2013.
- Gherardini L, Ciuti G, Tognarelli S, and Cinti C. Searching for the perfect wave: the effect of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields on cells. *Int J Mol Sci* 15: 5366–5387, 2014.
- 91. Ghezzi P, Floridi L, Boraschi D, Cuadrado A, Manda G, Levic S, D'Acquisto F, Hamilton A, Athersuch TJ, and Selley L. Oxidative stress and inflammation induced by environmental and psychological stressors: a biomarker perspective. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 28: 852–872, 2018.
- 92. Ghezzi P, Jaquet V, Marcucci F, and Schmidt H. The oxidative stress theory of disease: levels of evidence and epistemological aspects. *Br J Pharmacol* 174: 1784–1796, 2017.
- 93. Glatter T, Wepf A, Aebersold R, and Gstaiger M. An integrated workflow for charting the human interaction proteome: insights into the PP2A system. *Mol Syst Biol* 5: 237, 2009.
- 94. Gong K, Xing D, Li P, Hilgers RH, Hage FG, Oparil S, and Chen YF. cGMP inhibits TGF-beta signaling by sequestering Smad3 with cytosolic beta2-tubulin in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 25: 1794–1803, 2011.
- 95. Gori T and Münzel T. Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction: therapeutic implications. *Ann Med* 43: 259–272, 2011.
- Griefahn B, Brode P, Marks A, and Basner M. Autonomic arousals related to traffic noise during sleep. *Sleep* 31: 569–577, 2008.
- 97. Haines MM, Stansfeld SA, Job RF, Berglund B, and Head J. Chronic aircraft noise exposure, stress responses, mental health and cognitive performance in school children. *Psychol Med* 31: 265–277, 2001.
- 98. Halonen JI, Hansell AL, Gulliver J, Morley D, Blangiardo M, Fecht D, Toledano MB, Beevers SD, Anderson HR, Kelly FJ, and Tonne C. Road traffic noise is associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality and all-cause mortality in London. *Eur Heart J* 36: 2653–2661, 2015.
- 99. Handorf AM, Chamberlain CS, and Li WJ. Endogenously produced Indian Hedgehog regulates TGFbeta-driven chondrogenesis of human bone marrow stromal/stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev* 24: 995–1007, 2015.
- 100. Hansell AL, Blangiardo M, Fortunato L, Floud S, de HK, Fecht D, Ghosh RE, Laszlo HE, Pearson C, Beale L, Beevers S, Gulliver J, Best N, Richardson S, and Elliott P. Aircraft noise and cardiovascular disease near Heathrow airport in London: small area study. *BMJ* 347: f5432, 2013.

- 101. This reference has been deleted.
- 102. Haralabidis AS, Dimakopoulou K, Vigna-Taglianti F, Giampaolo M, Borgini A, Dudley ML, Pershagen G, Bluhm G, Houthuijs D, Babisch W, Velonakis M, Katsouyanni K, Jarup L, and Consortium H. Acute effects of night-time noise exposure on blood pressure in populations living near airports. *Eur Heart J* 29: 658–664, 2008.
- 103. Harding AH, Frost GA, Tan E, Tsuchiya A, and Mason HM. The cost of hypertension-related ill-health attributable to environmental noise. *Noise Health* 15: 8, 2013.
- 104. Hart JE, Chiuve SE, Laden F, and Albert CM. Roadway proximity and risk of sudden cardiac death in women. *Circulation* 130: 1474–1482, 2014.
- 105. Hegewald J, Schubert M, Wagner M, Dröge P, Prote U, Swart E, Möhler U, Zeeb H, and Seidler A. Breast cancer and exposure to aircraft, road, and railway-noise: a casecontrol study based on health insurance records. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 43: 509–518, 2017.
- 106. Heitzer T, Schlinzig T, Krohn K, Meinertz T, and Münzel T. Endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and risk of cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation* 104: 2673–2678, 2001.
- 107. Hemmingsen JG, Moller P, Jantzen K, Jonsson BA, Albin M, Wierzbicka A, Gudmundsson A, Loft S, and Rissler J. Controlled exposure to diesel exhaust and traffic noise—effects on oxidative stress and activation in mononuclear blood cells. *Mutat Res* 775: 66–71, 2015.
- 108. Héritier H, Vienneau D, Foraster M, Eze IC, Schaffner E, Thiesse L, Rudzik F, Habermacher M, Kopfli M, Pieren R, Brink M, Cajochen C, Wunderli JM, Probst-Hensch N, Röösli M, and Group SNCs. Transportation noise exposure and cardiovascular mortality: a nationwide cohort study from Switzerland. *Eur J Epidemiol* 32: 307–315, 2017.
- 109. Hink U, Li H, Mollnau H, Oelze M, Matheis E, Hartmann M, Skatchkov M, Thaiss F, Stahl RA, Warnholtz A, Meinertz T, Griendling K, Harrison DG, Forstermann U, and Münzel T. Mechanisms underlying endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. *Circ Res* 88: E14–E22, 2001.
- 110. Huang W, Wang G, Lu SE, Kipen H, Wang Y, Hu M, Lin W, Rich D, Ohman-Strickland P, Diehl SR, Zhu P, Tong J, Gong J, Zhu T, and Zhang J. Inflammatory and oxidative stress responses of healthy young adults to changes in air quality during the Beijing Olympics. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 186: 1150–1159, 2012.
- 111. Hygge S, Evans GW, and Bullinger M. A prospective study of some effects of aircraft noise on cognitive performance in schoolchildren. *Psychol Sci* 13: 469–474, 2002.
- 112. Irani K, Xia Y, Zweier JL, Sollott SJ, Der CJ, Fearon ER, Sundaresan M, Finkel T, and Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ. Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in Rastransformed fibroblasts. *Science* 275: 1649–1652, 1997.
- Ising H, Babisch W, and Kruppa B. Noise-induced endocrine effects and cardiovascular risk. *Noise Health* 1: 37–48, 1999.
- 114. Ising H and Braun C. Acute and chronic endocrine effects of noise: review of the research conducted at the Institute for Water, Soil and Air Hygiene. *Noise Health* 2: 7–24, 2000.
- 115. Ising H, Dienel D, Gunther T, and Markert B. Health effects of traffic noise. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 47: 179–190, 1980.

- 116. Jansen G. The effect of noise during physical work [in German]. *Int Z Angew Physiol* 20: 233–239, 1964.
- 117. Jansen G. Effects of noise on health. *Ger Med Mon* 13: 446–448, 1968.
- 118. Jansen G and Klensch H. Alteration of the ballistogram by sound impressions and by music [in German]. *Int Z Angew Physiol* 20: 258–270, 1964.
- 119. Jarup L, Babisch W, Houthuijs D, Pershagen G, Katsouyanni K, Cadum E, Dudley ML, Savigny P, Seiffert I, Swart W, Breugelmans O, Bluhm G, Selander J, Haralabidis A, Dimakopoulou K, Sourtzi P, Velonakis M, Vigna-Taglianti F, and Team HS. Hypertension and exposure to noise near airports: the HYENA study. *Environ Health Perspect* 116: 329–333, 2008.
- 120. This reference has been deleted.
- 121. Kalsch H, Hennig F, Moebus S, Mohlenkamp S, Dragano N, Jakobs H, Memmesheimer M, Erbel R, Jockel KH, Hoffmann B, and Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study Investigative G. Are air pollution and traffic noise independently associated with atherosclerosis: the Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study. *Eur Heart J* 35: 853–860, 2014.
- 122. Kan H, Hu W, Wang Y, Wu W, Yin Y, Liang Y, Wang C, Huang D, and Li W. NADPH oxidase-derived production of reactive oxygen species is involved in learning and memory impairments in 16-month-old female rats. *Mol Med Rep* 12: 4546–4553, 2015.
- 123. Kanazawa LK, Vecchia DD, Wendler EM, Hocayen PA, Dos Reis Livero FA, Stipp MC, Barcaro IM, Acco A, and Andreatini R. Quercetin reduces manic-like behavior and brain oxidative stress induced by paradoxical sleep deprivation in mice. *Free Radic Biol Med* 99: 79–86, 2016.
- 124. Khasar SG, Green PG, and Levine JD. Repeated sound stress enhances inflammatory pain in the rat. *Pain* 116: 79–86, 2005.
- 125. Kinoshita M, Sakamoto T, Kashio A, Shimizu T, and Yamasoba T. Age-related hearing loss in Mn-SOD heterozygous knockout mice. *Oxid Med Cell Longev* 2013: 325702, 2013.
- 126. Kipen H, Rich D, Huang W, Zhu T, Wang G, Hu M, Lu SE, Ohman-Strickland P, Zhu P, Wang Y, and Zhang JJ. Measurement of inflammation and oxidative stress following drastic changes in air pollution during the Beijing Olympics: a panel study approach. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1203: 160–167, 2010.
- 127. Kirschbaum C and Hellhammer DH. Noise and stress salivary cortisol as a non-invasive measure of allostatic load. *Noise Health* 1: 57–66, 1999.
- 128. Kleschyov AL and Münzel T. Advanced spin trapping of vascular nitric oxide using colloid iron diethyldithiocarbamate. *Methods Enzymol* 359: 42–51, 2002.
- 129. Kopf PG and Walker MK. Overview of developmental heart defects by dioxins, PCBs, and pesticides. J Environ Sci Health C Environ Carcinog Ecotoxicol Rev 27: 276– 285, 2009.
- 130. Kryter KD. *Effects of Noise on Man.* Academic Press, 1970, p. 654.
- 131. Kryter KD. Non-auditory effects of environmental noise. *Am J Public Health* 62: 389–398, 1972.
- Kujawa SG and Liberman MC. Adding insult to injury: cochlear nerve degeneration after "temporary" noiseinduced hearing loss. J Neurosci 29: 14077–14085, 2009.
- 133. Kuzkaya N, Weissmann N, Harrison DG, and Dikalov S. Interactions of peroxynitrite, tetrahydrobiopterin, ascorbic acid, and thiols: implications for uncoupling endothelial

nitric-oxide synthase. J Biol Chem 278: 22546–22554, 2003.

- 134. Landmesser U, Dikalov S, Price SR, McCann L, Fukai T, Holland SM, Mitch WE, and Harrison DG. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. *J Clin Invest* 111: 1201–1209, 2003.
- 135. Lauer AM, El-Sharkawy AM, Kraitchman DL, and Edelstein WA. MRI acoustic noise can harm experimental and companion animals. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 36: 743–747, 2012.
- 136. Lauer AM, May BJ, Hao ZJ, and Watson J. Analysis of environmental sound levels in modern rodent housing rooms. *Lab Anim (NY)* 38: 154–160, 2009.
- 137. Lavinsky J, Crow AL, Pan C, Wang J, Aaron KA, Ho MK, Li Q, Salehide P, Myint A, Monges-Hernadez M, Eskin E, Allayee H, Lusis AJ, and Friedman RA. Genome-wide association study identifies nox3 as a critical gene for susceptibility to noise-induced hearing loss. *PLoS Genet* 11: e1005094, 2015.
- Lelieveld J, Evans JS, Fnais M, Giannadaki D, and Pozzer A. The contribution of outdoor air pollution sources to premature mortality on a global scale. *Nature* 525: 367– 371, 2015.
- 139. Lenzi P, Frenzilli G, Gesi M, Ferrucci M, Lazzeri G, Fornai F, and Nigro M. DNA damage associated with ultrastructural alterations in rat myocardium after loud noise exposure. *Environ Health Perspect* 111: 467–471, 2003.
- 140. Lerman A and Zeiher AM. Endothelial function: cardiac events. *Circulation* 111: 363–368, 2005.
- Levi L. Sympatho-adrenomedullary responses to emotional stimuli: methodologie, physiologic and pathologic considerations. In: *An Introduction to Clinical Neuroendocrinology*, edited by Bajusz E. Basel: Karger, 1967, pp. 78–105.
- 142. Libby P. Assisted living in the atheroma: elderly macrophages promote plaques. *Cell Metab* 24: 779–781, 2016.
- 143. Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani H, Amann M, Anderson HR, Andrews KG, Aryee M, Atkinson C, Bacchus LJ, Bahalim AN, Balakrishnan K, Balmes J, Barker-Collo S, Baxter A, Bell ML, Blore JD, Blyth F, Bonner C, Borges G, Bourne R, Boussinesq M, Brauer M, Brooks P, Bruce NG, Brunekreef B, Bryan-Hancock C, Bucello C, Buchbinder R, Bull F, Burnett RT, Byers TE, Calabria B, Carapetis J, Carnahan E, Chafe Z, Charlson F, Chen H, Chen JS, Cheng AT, Child JC, Cohen A, Colson KE, Cowie BC, Darby S, Darling S, Davis A, Degenhardt L, Dentener F, Des Jarlais DC, Devries K, Dherani M, Ding EL, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Edmond K, Ali SE, Engell RE, Erwin PJ, Fahimi S, Falder G, Farzadfar F, Ferrari A, Finucane MM, Flaxman S, Fowkes FG, Freedman G, Freeman MK, Gakidou E, Ghosh S, Giovannucci E, Gmel G, Graham K, Grainger R, Grant B, Gunnell D, Gutierrez HR, Hall W, Hoek HW, Hogan A, Hosgood HD, 3rd, Hoy D, Hu H, Hubbell BJ, Hutchings SJ, Ibeanusi SE, Jacklyn GL, Jasrasaria R, Jonas JB, Kan H, Kanis JA, Kassebaum N, Kawakami N, Khang YH, Khatibzadeh S, Khoo JP, Kok C, Laden F, Lalloo R, Lan Q, Lathlean T, Leasher JL, Leigh J, Li Y, Lin JK, Lipshultz SE, London S, Lozano R, Lu Y, Mak J, Malekzadeh R, Mallinger L, Marcenes W, March L, Marks R, Martin R, McGale P, McGrath J, Mehta S, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Micha R, Michaud C, Mishra V, Mohd Hanafiah K, Mokdad AA, Morawska

L, Mozaffarian D, Murphy T, Naghavi M, Neal B, Nelson PK, Nolla JM, Norman R, Olives C, Omer SB, Orchard J, Osborne R, Ostro B, Page A, Pandey KD, Parry CD, Passmore E, Patra J, Pearce N, Pelizzari PM, Petzold M, Phillips MR, Pope D, Pope CA, 3rd, Powles J, Rao M, Razavi H, Rehfuess EA, Rehm JT, Ritz B, Rivara FP, Roberts T, Robinson C, Rodriguez-Portales JA, Romieu I, Room R, Rosenfeld LC, Roy A, Rushton L, Salomon JA, Sampson U, Sanchez-Riera L, Sanman E, Sapkota A, Seedat S, Shi P, Shield K, Shivakoti R, Singh GM, Sleet DA, Smith E, Smith KR, Stapelberg NJ, Steenland K, Stockl H, Stovner LJ, Straif K, Straney L, Thurston GD, Tran JH, Van Dingenen R, van Donkelaar A, Veerman JL, Vijayakumar L, Weintraub R, Weissman MM, White RA, Whiteford H, Wiersma ST, Wilkinson JD, Williams HC, Williams W, Wilson N, Woolf AD, Yip P, Zielinski JM, Lopez AD, Murray CJ, Ezzati M, AlMazroa MA, and Memish ZA. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380: 2224-2260, 2012.

- 144. Lincoln TM, Dey N, and Sellak H. Invited review: cGMPdependent protein kinase signaling mechanisms in smooth muscle: from the regulation of tone to gene expression. J Appl Physiol (1985) 91: 1421–1430, 2001.
- 145. Lusk SL, Gillespie B, Hagerty BM, and Ziemba RA. Acute effects of noise on blood pressure and heart rate. *Arch Environ Health* 59: 392–399, 2004.
- 146. Madonna R, Novo G, and Balistreri CR. Cellular and molecular basis of the imbalance between vascular damage and repair in ageing and age-related diseases: as biomarkers and targets for new treatments. *Mech Ageing Dev* 159: 22–30, 2016.
- 147. Martins R, Lithgow GJ, and Link W. Long live FOXO: unraveling the role of FOXO proteins in aging and longevity. *Aging Cell* 15: 196–207, 2016.
- Maschke C. Stress hormone changes in persons exposed to simulated night noise. *Noise Health* 5: 35–45, 2003.
- 149. Maschke C, Breinl S, Grimm R, and Ising H. The influence of nocturnal aircraft noise on sleep and on catecholamine secretion. *Schriftenr Ver Wasser Boden Lufthyg* 88: 395–407, 1993.
- 150. McEwen BS. Stress, adaptation, and disease. Allostasis and allostatic load. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 840: 33–44, 1998.
- 151. Meehan DT, Delimont D, Dufek B, Zallocchi M, Phillips G, Gratton MA, and Cosgrove D. Endothelin-1 mediated induction of extracellular matrix genes in strial marginal cells underlies strial pathology in Alport mice. *Hear Res* 341: 100–108, 2016.
- 152. Meier R, Cascio WE, Ghio AJ, Wild P, Danuser B, and Riediker M. Associations of short-term particle and noise exposures with markers of cardiovascular and respiratory health among highway maintenance workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 122: 726–732, 2014.
- 153. Messner B and Bernhard D. Cadmium and cardiovascular diseases: cell biology, pathophysiology, and epidemiological relevance. *Biometals* 23: 811–822, 2010.
- 154. Messner B, Knoflach M, Seubert A, Ritsch A, Pfaller K, Henderson B, Shen YH, Zeller I, Willeit J, Laufer G, Wick G, Kiechl S, and Bernhard D. Cadmium is a novel and independent risk factor for early atherosclerosis mechanisms and in vivo relevance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 29: 1392–1398, 2009.

- 155. Meyer T and Wirtz PH. Mechanisms of mitochondrial redox signaling in psychosocial stress-responsive systems: new insights into an old story. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 28: 760–772, 2018.
- 156. Miedema HM and Oudshoorn CG. Annoyance from transportation noise: relationships with exposure metrics DNL and DENL and their confidence intervals. *Environ Health Perspect* 109: 409–416, 2001.
- 157. Miguel V, Cui JY, Daimiel L, Espinosa-Díez C, Fernández-Hernando C, Kavanagh TJ, and Lamas S. The role of microRNAs in environmental risk factors, noiseinduced hearing loss, and mental stress. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 28: 773–796, 2018.
- 158. Mikhed Y, Daiber A, and Steven S. Mitochondrial oxidative stress, mitochondrial dna damage and their role in age-related vascular dysfunction. *Int J Mol Sci* 16: 15918– 15953, 2015.
- Moldovan L, Moldovan NI, Sohn RH, Parikh SA, and Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ. Redox changes of cultured endothelial cells and actin dynamics. *Circ Res* 86: 549– 557, 2000.
- 160. Moon K, Guallar E, and Navas-Acien A. Arsenic exposure and cardiovascular disease: an updated systematic review. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 14: 542–555, 2012.
- 161. Münzel T, Daiber A, Steven S, Tran LP, Ullmann E, Kossmann S, Schmidt FP, Oelze M, Xia N, Li H, Pinto A, Wild P, Pies K, Schmidt ER, Rapp S, and Kröller-Schön S. Effects of noise on vascular function, oxidative stress, and inflammation: mechanistic insight from studies in mice. *Eur Heart J* 38: 2838–2849, 2017.
- Münzel T, Gori T, Babisch W, and Basner M. Cardiovascular effects of environmental noise exposure. *Eur Heart J* 35: 829–836, 2014.
- 163. Münzel T, Gori T, Bruno RM, and Taddei S. Is oxidative stress a therapeutic target in cardiovascular disease? *Eur Heart J* 31: 2741–2748, 2010.
- 164. Münzel T, Knorr M, Schmidt F, von Bardeleben S, Gori T, and Schulz E. Airborne disease: a case of a Takotsubo cardiomyopathy as a consequence of nighttime aircraft noise exposure. *Eur Heart J* 37: 2844, 2016.
- Münzel T, Sinning C, Post F, Warnholtz A, and Schulz E. Pathophysiology, diagnosis and prognostic implications of endothelial dysfunction. *Ann Med* 40: 180–196, 2008.
- 166. Münzel T, Sörensen M, Gori T, Schmidt FP, Rao X, Brook J, Chen LC, Brook RD, and Rajagopalan S. Environmental stressors and cardio-metabolic disease: part Iepidemiologic evidence supporting a role for noise and air pollution and effects of mitigation strategies. *Eur Heart J* 38: 550–556, 2017.
- 167. Münzel T, Sörensen M, Gori T, Schmidt FP, Rao X, Brook FR, Chen LC, Brook RD, and Rajagopalan S. Environmental stressors and cardio-metabolic disease: part II-mechanistic insights. *Eur Heart J* 38: 557–564, 2017.
- 168. Murray CJ, Ezzati M, Flaxman AD, Lim S, Lozano R, Michaud C, Naghavi M, Salomon JA, Shibuya K, Vos T, Wikler D, and Lopez AD. GBD 2010: design, definitions, and metrics. *Lancet* 380: 2063–2066, 2012.
- 169. Nair D, Zhang SX, Ramesh V, Hakim F, Kaushal N, Wang Y, and Gozal D. Sleep fragmentation induces cognitive deficits via nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase-dependent pathways in mouse. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 184: 1305–1312, 2011.
- 170. Navas-Acien A, Guallar E, Silbergeld EK, and Rothenberg SJ. Lead exposure and cardiovascular disease—a

systematic review. *Environ Health Perspect* 115: 472–482, 2007.

- 171. Nawrot TS, Perez L, Kunzli N, Munters E, and Nemery B. Public health importance of triggers of myocardial infarction: a comparative risk assessment. *Lancet* 377: 732– 740, 2011.
- 172. Naziroglu M, Yuksel M, Kose SA, and Ozkaya MO. Recent reports of Wi-Fi and mobile phone-induced radiation on oxidative stress and reproductive signaling pathways in females and males. *J Membr Biol* 246: 869– 875, 2013.
- 173. Nemeroff CB and Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ. Heartache and heartbreak—the link between depression and cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* 9: 526–539, 2012.
- 174. Newby DE, Mannucci PM, Tell GS, Baccarelli AA, Brook RD, Donaldson K, Forastiere F, Franchini M, Franco OH, Graham I, Hoek G, Hoffmann B, Hoylaerts MF, Kunzli N, Mills N, Pekkanen J, Peters A, Piepoli MF, Rajagopalan S, Storey RF, and ESC Working Group on Thrombosis EAfCP, Rehabilitation, Association ESCHF. Expert position paper on air pollution and cardiovascular disease. *Eur Heart J* 36: 83–93b, 2015.
- 175. Nyberg ST, Fransson EI, Heikkila K, Ahola K, Alfredsson L, Bjorner JB, Borritz M, Burr H, Dragano N, Goldberg M, Hamer M, Jokela M, Knutsson A, Koskenvuo M, Koskinen A, Kouvonen A, Leineweber C, Madsen IE, Magnusson Hanson LL, Marmot MG, Nielsen ML, Nordin M, Oksanen T, Pejtersen JH, Pentti J, Rugulies R, Salo P, Siegrist J, Steptoe A, Suominen S, Theorell T, Vaananen A, Vahtera J, Virtanen M, Westerholm PJ, Westerlund H, Zins M, Batty GD, Brunner EJ, Ferrie JE, Singh-Manoux A, Kivimaki M, and Consortium IP-W. Job strain as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes: a pooled analysis of 124,808 men and women. *Diabetes Care* 37: 2268–2275, 2014.
- 176. Oelze M, Kröller-Schön S, Welschof P, Jansen T, Hausding M, Mikhed Y, Stamm P, Mader M, Zinssius E, Agdauletova S, Gottschlich A, Steven S, Schulz E, Bottari SP, Mayoux E, Münzel T, and Daiber A. The sodiumglucose co-transporter 2 inhibitor empagliflozin improves diabetes-induced vascular dysfunction in the streptozotocin diabetes rat model by interfering with oxidative stress and glucotoxicity. *PLoS One* 9: e112394, 2014.
- 177. Oftedal B, Krog NH, Pyko A, Eriksson C, Graff-Iversen S, Haugen M, Schwarze P, Pershagen G, and Aasvang GM. Road traffic noise and markers of obesity—a populationbased study. *Environ Res* 138: 144–153, 2015.
- 178. Ohlemiller KK, McFadden SL, Ding DL, Flood DG, Reaume AG, Hoffman EK, Scott RW, Wright JS, Putcha GV, and Salvi RJ. Targeted deletion of the cytosolic Cu/ Zn-superoxide dismutase gene (Sod1) increases susceptibility to noise-induced hearing loss. *Audiol Neurootol* 4: 237–246, 1999.
- 179. Ohlemiller KK, McFadden SL, Ding DL, Lear PM, and Ho YS. Targeted mutation of the gene for cellular glutathione peroxidase (Gpx1) increases noise-induced hearing loss in mice. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol* 1: 243–254, 2000.
- 180. Ohrstrom E, Barregard L, Andersson E, Skanberg A, Svensson H, and Angerheim P. Annoyance due to single and combined sound exposure from railway and road traffic. J Acoust Soc Am 122: 2642–2652, 2007.
- Oishi N and Schacht J. Emerging treatments for noiseinduced hearing loss. *Expert Opin Emerg Drugs* 16: 235– 245, 2011.

- 182. Ostad MA, Wild PS, Schnorbus B, Schulz A, Münzel T, and Warnholtz A. Predictive value of brachial reactive hyperemia and flow-mediated dilation in stable coronary artery disease. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc* 56: 247–257, 2014.
- Ou HC, Bohne BA, and Harding GW. Noise damage in the C57BL/CBA mouse cochlea. *Hear Res* 145: 111–122, 2000.
- 184. Paunovic K, Stansfeld S, Clark C, and Belojevic G. Epidemiological studies on noise and blood pressure in children: observations and suggestions. *Environ Int* 37: 1030–1041, 2011.
- 185. Peterson EA, Augenstein JS, Tanis DC, and Augenstein DG. Noise raises blood pressure without impairing auditory sensitivity. *Science* 211: 1450–1452, 1981.
- 186. Pilot-Storck F, Chopin E, Rual JF, Baudot A, Dobrokhotov P, Robinson-Rechavi M, Brun C, Cusick ME, Hill DE, Schaeffer L, Vidal M, and Goillot E. Interactome mapping of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-mammalian target of rapamycin pathway identifies deformed epidermal autoregulatory factor-1 as a new glycogen synthase kinase-3 interactor. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 9: 1578–1593, 2010.
- 187. Polanowska R and Cierniewski CS. Activation of blood platelets and increased plasma fibrinogen and fibronectin in men exposed to infrasounds, acoustic noise and airborne dust in electric steelworks. *Thromb Res* 48: 363– 371, 1987.
- 188. Prozialeck WC, Edwards JR, Nebert DW, Woods JM, Barchowsky A, and Atchison WD. The vascular system as a target of metal toxicity. *Toxicol Sci* 102: 207–218, 2008.
- 189. Pyko A, Eriksson C, Oftedal B, Hilding A, Ostenson CG, Krog NH, Julin B, Aasvang GM, and Pershagen G. Exposure to traffic noise and markers of obesity. *Occup Environ Med* 72: 594–601, 2015.
- 190. Ramkumar V, Whitworth CA, Pingle SC, Hughes LF, and Rybak LP. Noise induces A1 adenosine receptor expression in the chinchilla cochlea. *Hear Res* 188: 47–56, 2004.
- 191. Rao X, Zhong J, Brook RD, and Rajagopalan S. Effect of particulate matter air pollution on cardiovascular oxidative stress pathways. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 28: 797–818, 2018.
- 192. Rao X, Zhong J, Maiseyeu A, Gopalakrishnan B, Villamena FA, Chen LC, Harkema JR, Sun Q, and Rajagopalan S. CD36-dependent 7-ketocholesterol accumulation in macrophages mediates progression of atherosclerosis in response to chronic air pollution exposure. *Circ Res* 115: 770–780, 2014.
- 193. Rauscher FM, Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ, Davis BH, Wang T, Gregg D, Ramaswami P, Pippen AM, Annex BH, Dong C, and Taylor DA. Aging, progenitor cell exhaustion, and atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 108: 457–463, 2003.
- 194. Ray A, Schacht J, and Brenner MJ. Experimental models for drug evaluation in noise-induced hearing loss and agerelated hearing impairment. In: *Drug Discovery and Evaluation: Pharmacological Assays*, edited by Hock FJ. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp. 3829–3841.
- 195. Rich DQ, Kipen HM, Huang W, Wang G, Wang Y, Zhu P, Ohman-Strickland P, Hu M, Philipp C, Diehl SR, Lu SE, Tong J, Gong J, Thomas D, Zhu T, and Zhang JJ. Association between changes in air pollution levels during the Beijing Olympics and biomarkers of inflammation and thrombosis in healthy young adults. *JAMA* 307: 2068– 2078, 2012.

- 196. Richter K, Konzack A, Pihlajaniemi T, Heljasvaara R, and Kietzmann T. Redox-fibrosis: impact of TGFbeta1 on ROS generators, mediators and functional consequences. *Redox Biol* 6: 344–352, 2015.
- 197. Rodriguez-Calvo R, Ferran B, Alonso J, Marti-Pamies I, Aguilo S, Calvayrac O, Rodriguez C, and Martinez-Gonzalez J. NR4A receptors up-regulate the antiproteinase alpha-2 macroglobulin (A2M) and modulate MMP-2 and MMP-9 in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Thromb Haemost* 113: 1323–1334, 2015.
- 198. Rodríguez-Calvo R, Guadall A, Calvayrac O, Navarro MA, Alonso J, Ferrán B, de Diego A, Muniesa P, Osada J, Rodríguez C, and Martínez-González J. Over-expression of neuron-derived orphan receptor-1 (NOR-1) exacerbates neointimal hyperplasia after vascular injury. *Hum Mol Genet* 22: 1949–1959, 2013.
- 199. Rosenlund M, Berglind N, Pershagen G, Jarup L, and Bluhm G. Increased prevalence of hypertension in a population exposed to aircraft noise. *Occup Environ Med* 58: 769–773, 2001.
- 200. Roswall N, Ammitzboll G, Christensen JS, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Jensen SS, Tjonneland A, and Sörensen M. Residential exposure to traffic noise and leisure-time sports—a population-based study. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 220: 1006–1013, 2017.
- 201. Roswall N, Eriksen KT, Hjortebjerg D, Jensen SS, Overvad K, Tjonneland A, Raaschou-Nielsen O, and Sörensen M. Residential exposure to road and railway noise and risk of prostate cancer: a prospective cohort study. *PLoS One* 10: e0135407, 2015.
- 202. Roswall N, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Ketzel M, Overvad K, Halkjær J, and Sörensen M. Residential traffic noise exposure and colorectal cancer incidence–a cohort study. *Cancer Causes Control* 28: 745–753, 2017.
- 203. Roy A, Gong J, Thomas DC, Zhang J, Kipen HM, Rich DQ, Zhu T, Huang W, Hu M, Wang G, Wang Y, Zhu P, Lu SE, Ohman-Strickland P, Diehl SR, and Eckel SP. The cardiopulmonary effects of ambient air pollution and mechanistic pathways: a comparative hierarchical pathway analysis. *PLoS One* 9: e114913, 2014.
- 204. Said MA and El-Gohary OA. Effect of noise stress on cardiovascular system in adult male albino rat: implication of stress hormones, endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress. *Gen Physiol Biophys* 35: 371–377, 2016.
- 205. Sayk F, Becker C, Teckentrup C, Fehm HL, Struck J, Wellhoener JP, and Dodt C. To dip or not to dip: on the physiology of blood pressure decrease during nocturnal sleep in healthy humans. *Hypertension* 49: 1070–1076, 2007.
- 206. Schiavone S, Jaquet V, Trabace L, and Krause KH. Severe life stress and oxidative stress in the brain: from animal models to human pathology. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 18: 1475–1490, 2013.
- 207. Schmidt F, Kolle K, Kreuder K, Schnorbus B, Wild P, Hechtner M, Binder H, Gori T, and Münzel T. Nighttime aircraft noise impairs endothelial function and increases blood pressure in patients with or at high risk for coronary artery disease. *Clin Res Cardiol* 104: 23– 30, 2015.
- 208. Schmidt FP, Basner M, Kroger G, Weck S, Schnorbus B, Muttray A, Sariyar M, Binder H, Gori T, Warnholtz A, and Münzel T. Effect of nighttime aircraft noise exposure on endothelial function and stress hormone release in healthy adults. *Eur Heart J* 34: 3508–3514a, 2013.

- Schmidt HH, Stocker R, Vollbracht C, Paulsen G, Riley D, Daiber A, and Cuadrado A. Antioxidants in translational medicine. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 23: 1130–1143, 2015.
- 210. Schnabel RB, Schulz A, Wild PS, Sinning CR, Wilde S, Eleftheriadis M, Herkenhoff S, Zeller T, Lubos E, Lackner KJ, Warnholtz A, Gori T, Blankenberg S, and Münzel T. Noninvasive vascular function measurement in the community: cross-sectional relations and comparison of methods. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging* 4: 371–380, 2011.
- 211. Schreckenberg D, Griefahn B, and Meis M. The associations between noise sensitivity, reported physical and mental health, perceived environmental quality, and noise annoyance. *Noise Health* 12: 7–16, 2010.
- 212. Schulz E, Jansen T, Wenzel P, Daiber A, and Münzel T. Nitric oxide, tetrahydrobiopterin, oxidative stress, and endothelial dysfunction in hypertension. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 10: 1115–1126, 2008.
- 213. Seidler A, Hegewald J, Seidler AL, Schubert M, Wagner M, Droge P, Haufe E, Schmitt J, Swart E, and Zeeb H. Association between aircraft, road and railway traffic noise and depression in a large case-control study based on secondary data. *Environ Res* 152: 263–271, 2017.
- 214. Seidler A, Wagner M, Schubert M, Droge P, Romer K, Pons-Kuhnemann J, Swart E, Zeeb H, and Hegewald J. Aircraft, road and railway traffic noise as risk factors for heart failure and hypertensive heart disease-A case-control study based on secondary data. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 219: 749–758, 2016.
- 215. Sekhotha MM, Monyeki KD, and Sibuyi ME. Exposure to agrochemicals and cardiovascular disease: a review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 13: 229, 2016.
- 216. Selander J, Nilsson ME, Bluhm G, Rosenlund M, Lindqvist M, Nise G, and Pershagen G. Long-term exposure to road traffic noise and myocardial infarction. *Epidemiology* 20: 272–279, 2009.
- 217. Selivanova O, Heinrich UR, Brieger J, Feltens R, and Mann W. Fast alterations of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression and that of its receptors (Flt-1, Flk-1 and neuropilin) in the cochlea of guinea pigs after moderate noise exposure. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 264: 121–128, 2007.
- 218. Selvakumar B, Hess DT, Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ, and Stamler JS. Co-regulation of constitutive nitric oxide synthases and NADPH oxidase by the small GTPase Rac. *FEBS Lett* 582: 2195–2202, 2008.
- 219. Sha SH and Schacht J. Emerging therapeutic interventions against noise-induced hearing loss. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 26: 85–96, 2017.
- 220. Sherwood A, Hinderliter AL, Watkins LL, Waugh RA, and Blumenthal JA. Impaired endothelial function in coronary heart disease patients with depressive symptomatology. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 46: 656–659, 2005.
- 221. Siegrist J and Sies H. Disturbed redox homeostasis in oxidative distress: a molecular link from chronic psychosocial work stress to coronary heart disease? *Circ Res* 121: 103–105, 2017.
- 222. Sörensen M, Andersen ZJ, Nordsborg RB, Becker T, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, and Raaschou-Nielsen O. Long-term exposure to road traffic noise and incident diabetes: a cohort study. *Environ Health Perspect* 121: 217– 222, 2013.
- 223. Sörensen M, Andersen ZJ, Nordsborg RB, Jensen SS, Lillelund KG, Beelen R, Schmidt EB, Tjonneland A,

Overvad K, and Raaschou-Nielsen O. Road traffic noise and incident myocardial infarction: a prospective cohort study. *PLoS One* 7: e39283, 2012.

- 224. Sörensen M, Hvidberg M, Andersen ZJ, Nordsborg RB, Lillelund KG, Jakobsen J, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, and Raaschou-Nielsen O. Road traffic noise and stroke: a prospective cohort study. *Eur Heart J* 32: 737–744, 2011.
- 225. Sörensen M, Hvidberg M, Hoffmann B, Andersen ZJ, Nordsborg RB, Lillelund KG, Jakobsen J, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, and Raaschou-Nielsen O. Exposure to road traffic and railway noise and associations with blood pressure and self-reported hypertension: a cohort study. *Environ Health* 10: 92, 2011.
- 226. Sörensen M, Ketzel M, Overvad K, Tjonneland A, and Raaschou-Nielsen O. Exposure to road traffic and railway noise and postmenopausal breast cancer: a cohort study. *Int J Cancer* 134: 2691–2698, 2014.
- 227. Sörensen M, Luhdorf P, Ketzel M, Andersen ZJ, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, and Raaschou-Nielsen O. Combined effects of road traffic noise and ambient air pollution in relation to risk for stroke? *Environ Res* 133: 49–55, 2014.
- 228. Sorescu D, Weiss D, Lassegue B, Clempus RE, Szocs K, Sorescu GP, Valppu L, Quinn MT, Lambeth JD, Vega JD, Taylor WR, and Griendling KK. Superoxide production and expression of nox family proteins in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 105: 1429–1435, 2002.
- 229. Spiegel K, Tasali E, Leproult R, and Van Cauter E. Effects of poor and short sleep on glucose metabolism and obesity risk. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 5: 253–261, 2009.
- 230. Spiegel K, Tasali E, Penev P, and Van CE. Brief communication: sleep curtailment in healthy young men is associated with decreased leptin levels, elevated ghrelin levels, and increased hunger and appetite. *Ann Intern Med* 141: 846–850, 2004.
- 231. Spreng M. Central nervous system activation by noise. *Noise Health* 2: 49–58, 2000.
- 232. Srivastava S, Vladykovskaya EN, Haberzettl P, Sithu SD, D'Souza SE, and States JC. Arsenic exacerbates atherosclerotic lesion formation and inflammation in ApoE^{-/-} mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 241: 90–100, 2009.
- Stamatakis KA and Punjabi NM. Effects of sleep fragmentation on glucose metabolism in normal subjects. *Chest* 137: 95–101, 2010.
- Stansfeld S and Clark C. Health effects of noise exposure in children. *Curr Environ Health Rep* 2: 171–178, 2015.
- Stansfeld S, Haines M, and Brown B. Noise and health in the urban environment. *Rev Environ Health* 15: 43–82, 2000.
- 236. Stansfeld SA. Noise, noise sensitivity and psychiatric disorder: epidemiological and psychophysiological studies. *Psychol Med Suppl* 22: 1–44, 1992.
- 237. Stansfeld SA, Berglund B, Clark C, Lopez-Barrio I, Fischer P, Ohrstrom E, Haines MM, Head J, Hygge S, van Kamp I, Berry BF, and Team RS. Aircraft and road traffic noise and children's cognition and health: a cross-national study. *Lancet* 365: 1942–1949, 2005.
- Stansfeld SA and Shipley M. Noise sensitivity and future risk of illness and mortality. *Sci Total Environ* 520: 114– 119, 2015.
- Steven S, Hausding M, Kröller-Schön S, Mader M, Mikhed Y, Stamm P, Zinssius E, Pfeffer A, Welschof P,

Agdauletova S, Sudowe S, Li H, Oelze M, Schulz E, Klein T, Münzel T, and Daiber A. Gliptin and GLP-1 analog treatment improves survival and vascular inflammation/ dysfunction in animals with lipopolysaccharide-induced endotoxemia. *Basic Res Cardiol* 110: 6, 2015.

- 240. Suessenbacher A, Dorler J, Wunder J, Hohenwarter F, Alber HF, Pachinger O, and Frick M. Comparison of brachial artery wall thickness versus endothelial function to predict late cardiovascular events in patients undergoing elective coronary angiography. *Am J Cardiol* 111: 671–675, 2013.
- 241. Sun Y, Daemen A, Hatzivassiliou G, Arnott D, Wilson C, Zhuang G, Gao M, Liu P, Boudreau A, Johnson L, and Settleman J. Metabolic and transcriptional profiling reveals pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 as a mediator of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and drug resistance in tumor cells. *Cancer Metab* 2, 2014; DOI: 10.1186/2049-3002-2-20.
- 242. Sundaresan M, Yu ZX, Ferrans VJ, Irani K, and Finkel T. Requirement for generation of H_2O_2 for platelet-derived growth factor signal transduction. *Science* 270: 296–299, 1995.
- 243. Swinburn TK, Hammer MS, and Neitzel RL. Valuing quiet: an economic assessment of U.S. environmental noise as a cardiovascular health hazard. *Am J Prev Med* 49: 345–353, 2015.
- 244. Taheri S, Lin L, Austin D, Young T, and Mignot E. Short sleep duration is associated with reduced leptin, elevated ghrelin, and increased body mass index. *PLoS Med* 1: e62, 2004.
- 245. Takase B, Akima T, Uehata A, Ohsuzu F, and Kurita A. Effect of chronic stress and sleep deprivation on both flow-mediated dilation in the brachial artery and the intracellular magnesium level in humans. *Clin Cardiol* 27: 223–227, 2004.
- 246. Tan WJ, Thorne PR, and Vlajkovic SM. Characterisation of cochlear inflammation in mice following acute and chronic noise exposure. *Histochem Cell Biol* 146: 219– 230, 2016.
- 247. Tasali E, Leproult R, Ehrmann DA, and Van Cauter E. Slow-wave sleep and the risk of type 2 diabetes in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105: 1044–1049, 2008.
- 248. Tellez-Plaza M, Jones MR, Dominguez-Lucas A, Guallar E, and Navas-Acien A. Cadmium exposure and clinical cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. *Curr Ather*oscler Rep 15: 356, 2013.
- 249. Tetreault LF, Perron S, and Smargiassi A. Cardiovascular health, traffic-related air pollution and noise: are associations mutually confounded? A systematic review. *Int J Public Health* 58: 649–666, 2013.
- Theebe MAJ. Planes, trains, and automobiles: the impact of traffic noise on house prices. *J Real Estate Finan Econ* 28: 209–234, 2004.
- 251. Tuerdi A, Kinoshita M, Kamogashira T, Fujimoto C, Iwasaki S, Shimizu T, and Yamasoba T. Manganese superoxide dismutase influences the extent of noiseinduced hearing loss in mice. *Neurosci Lett* 642: 123– 128, 2017.
- Turner JG, Parrish JL, Hughes LF, Toth LA, and Caspary DM. Hearing in laboratory animals: strain differences and nonauditory effects of noise. *Comp Med* 55: 12–23, 2005.

- 253. Tzivion G, Dobson M, and Ramakrishnan G. FoxO transcription factors; regulation by AKT and 14-3-3 proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1813: 1938–1945, 2011.
- 254. van Kamp I and Davies H. Noise and health in vulnerable groups: a review. *Noise Health* 15: 153–159, 2013.
- 255. van Kempen E and Babisch W. The quantitative relationship between road traffic noise and hypertension: a meta-analysis. *J Hypertens* 30: 1075–1086, 2012.
- 256. van Kempen EE, Kruize H, Boshuizen HC, Ameling CB, Staatsen BA, and de Hollander AE. The association between noise exposure and blood pressure and ischemic heart disease: a meta-analysis. *Environ Health Perspect* 110: 307–317, 2002.
- 257. van Kempen EE, van Kamp I, Stellato RK, Lopez-Barrio I, Haines MM, Nilsson ME, Clark C, Houthuijs D, Brunekreef B, Berglund B, and Stansfeld SA. Children's annoyance reactions to aircraft and road traffic noise. *J Acoust Soc Am* 125: 895–904, 2009.
- 258. Vaziri ND. Mechanisms of lead-induced hypertension and cardiovascular disease. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 295: H454–H465, 2008.
- 259. Videla LA, Barros SB, and Junqueira VB. Lindaneinduced liver oxidative stress. *Free Radic Biol Med* 9: 169–179, 1990.
- 260. Vienneau D, Perez L, Schindler C, Lieb C, Sommer H, Probst-Hensch N, Kunzli N, and Roosli M. Years of life lost and morbidity cases attributable to transportation noise and air pollution: a comparative health risk assessment for Switzerland in 2010. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 218: 514–521, 2015.
- 261. Vienneau D, Schindler C, Perez L, Probst-Hensch N, and Roosli M. The relationship between transportation noise exposure and ischemic heart disease: a meta-analysis. *Environ Res* 138: 372–380, 2015.
- 262. Vlajkovic SM, Lin SC, Wong AC, Wackrow B, and Thorne PR. Noise-induced changes in expression levels of NADPH oxidases in the cochlea. *Hear Res* 304: 145–152, 2013.
- 263. Wang S, Yang K, Chen S, Wang J, Du G, Fan S, and Wei L. Indian Hedgehog contributes to human cartilage endplate degeneration. *Eur Spine J* 24: 1720–1728, 2015.
- 264. Watkins G, Tarnopolsky A, and Jenkins LM. Aircraft noise and mental health: II. use of medicines and health care services. *Psychol Med* 11: 155–168, 1981.
- 265. Wenzel P, Knorr M, Kossmann S, Stratmann J, Hausding M, Schuhmacher S, Karbach SH, Schwenk M, Yogev N, Schulz E, Oelze M, Grabbe S, Jonuleit H, Becker C, Daiber A, Waisman A, and Münzel T. Lysozyme Mpositive monocytes mediate angiotensin II-induced arterial hypertension and vascular dysfunction. *Circulation* 124: 1370–1381, 2011.
- 266. Wenzel P, Kossmann S, Münzel T, and Daiber A. Redox regulation of cardiovascular inflammation immunomodulatory function of mitochondrial and Noxderived reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. *Free Radic Biol Med* 109: 48–60, 2017.
- 267. Wenzel P, Schulz E, Oelze M, Muller J, Schuhmacher S, Alhamdani MS, Debrezion J, Hortmann M, Reifenberg K, Fleming I, Münzel T, and Daiber A. AT1-receptor blockade by telmisartan upregulates GTP-cyclohydrolase I and protects eNOS in diabetic rats. *Free Radic Biol Med* 45: 619–626, 2008.

- 268. Wild PS, Zeller T, Beutel M, Blettner M, Dugi KA, Lackner KJ, Pfeiffer N, Münzel T, and Blankenberg S. The Gutenberg Health Study [in German]. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 55: 824–829, 2012.
- Wilking M, Ndiaye M, Mukhtar H, and Ahmad N. Circadian rhythm connections to oxidative stress: implications for human health. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 19: 192–208, 2013.
- 270. Wilson SJ, Miller MR, and Newby DE. Effects of diesel exhaust on cardiovascular function and oxidative stress. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 28: 819–836, 2018.
- 271. Wistow G, Bernstein SL, Ray S, Wyatt MK, Behal A, Touchman JW, Bouffard G, Smith D, and Peterson K. Expressed sequence tag analysis of adult human iris for the NEIBank Project: steroid-response factors and similarities with retinal pigment epithelium. *Mol Vis* 8: 185– 195, 2002.
- 272. Wu CC, Chen SJ, and Yen MH. Effects of noise on blood pressure and vascular reactivities. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 19: 833–838, 1992.
- 273. Wu CC, Chen SJ, and Yen MH. Attenuation of endotheliumdependent relaxation in mesenteric artery during noiseinduced hypertension. *J Biomed Sci* 1: 49–53, 1994.
- 274. Xia N and Li H. Loneliness, social isolation and cardiovascular health. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 28: 837–851, 2018.
- 275. Yamamura K, Maehara N, Harabuchi I, Sadamoto T, Takahashi K, and Hayafuji C. The effects of intermittent (trapezoidal) noise on man. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 135: 179– 186, 1981.
- 276. Yamamura K, Maehara N, Sadamoto T, and Harabuchi I. Effect of intermittent (traffic) noise on man—temporary threshold shift, and change in urinary 17-OHCS and saliva cortisol levels. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* 48: 303– 314, 1982.
- 277. Yang CH, Schrepfer T, and Schacht J. Age-related hearing impairment and the triad of acquired hearing loss. *Front Cell Neurosci* 9: 276, 2015.
- 278. Yang G, Wang Y, Zeng Y, Gao GF, Liang X, Zhou M, Wan X, Yu S, Jiang Y, Naghavi M, Vos T, Wang H, Lopez AD, and Murray CJ. Rapid health transition in China, 1990–2010: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* 381: 1987–2015, 2013.
- 279. Yeboah J, McClelland RL, Polonsky TS, Burke GL, Sibley CT, O'Leary D, Carr JJ, Goff DC, Greenland P, and Herrington DM. Comparison of novel risk markers for improvement in cardiovascular risk assessment in intermediate-risk individuals. *JAMA* 308: 788–795, 2012.
- 280. Ying Z, Xie X, Bai Y, Chen M, Wang X, Zhang X, Morishita M, Sun Q, and Rajagopalan S. Exposure to concentrated ambient particulate matter induces reversible increase of heart weight in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Part Fibre Toxicol* 12: 15, 2015.
- 281. Zhou J, Wan B, Shan J, Shi H, Li Y, and Huo K. PTPN4 negatively regulates CrkI in human cell lines. *Cell Mol Biol Lett* 18: 297–314, 2013.
- Zou MH and Ullrich V. Peroxynitrite formed by simultaneous generation of nitric oxide and superoxide selectively inhibits bovine aortic prostacyclin synthase. *FEBS Lett* 382: 101–104, 1996.
- Zunzunegui C, Gao B, Cam E, Hodor A, and Bassetti CL. Sleep disturbance impairs stroke recovery in the rat. *Sleep* 34: 1261–1269, 2011.

Address correspondence to: Prof. Dr. Thomas Münzel Zentrum für Kardiologie 1 Universitätsmedizin der Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz Gebäude 605, Langenbeckstr. 1 55131 Mainz Germany

E-mail: tmuenzel@uni-mainz.de

Date of first submission to ARS Central, April 11, 2017; date of final revised submission, November 11, 2017; date of acceptance, November 14, 2017.

Abbreviations Used

- BH4 = tetrahydrobiopterin
- BP = blood pressure
- CDA = continuous descent arrivals
- cGK-I = cGMP-dependent protein kinase I
- cGMP = cyclic guanosine monophosphate
- CHF = Swiss Francs
- CI = confidence interval
- CVD = cardiovascular disease
- DALYs = disability-adjusted life years
- dB(A) = A-weight decibels
- EMR = electromagnetic radiation
- ENNAH = European Network on Noise and Health
- eNOS = endothelial nitric oxide synthase;
 - ET-1 = endothelin-1
 - EU = European Union
 - FMD = flow-mediated dilation
- FOXO = Forkhead-box-protein
- HYENA = Hypertension and Exposure to Noise near Airports
 - Ihh = Indian hedgehog
 - IL-6 = interleukin-6
 - JRC = joint research center
 - $L_{eq} =$ average sound pressure level
- MACCE = major adverse cardiovascular and cerebral events
 - NGS = next-generation sequencing
 - NIHL = noise-induced hearing loss;
 - $^{\bullet}NO = nitric oxide$
- Nox = isoform (*e.g.*, 1, 2, 4) of NADPH oxidase $ONOO^-$ = peroxynitrite
- PM = particulate matter
- RANCH = Road traffic and Aircraft Noise exposure and children's Cognition and Health
 - ROS = reactive oxygen species
 - SES = socioeconomic status
 - sGC = soluble guanylyl cyclase
 - SOD = superoxide dismutase
 - SOD2 = manganese superoxide dismutase
 - SPL = sound pressure level
 - VEGF = vascular endothelial growth factor
- VSMCs = vascular smooth muscle cells
- WHO = World Health Organization
- Ypel2 = Yippee-like-2